## Artist Development in Indie Labels: A Cuca Monga Case Study

Diogo Couceiro da Costa Guerra 683143



Supervisor: Bhagyalakshmi Daga
Erasmus School of History, Culture and Communication
Master Thesis
Rotterdam, June 2024

**Abstract** 

This thesis examines how independent labels contribute to the artistic and commercial

development of their artists, relying on the empirical analysis of Cuca Monga, a

prominent indie label in Portugal. The goal of this study is to understand how these

entities utilise their flexible and unstructured internal organisation, and adapt to the

contemporary music industry's dynamics, for their artists' benefit. It aims, therefore, to

answer the research question is: "How do independent music labels leverage their

internal structure and the contemporary organization of the music industry to support

the commercial and artistic success of their artists?" relates to the recent shifts in the

music industry, caused by digitalization, and the competitive landscape faced by

emerging artists in the sector. Employing qualitative methods, in participant observation

and semi-structured interviews with Cuca Monga's key members, the research provides

a comprehensive view of the label's motivations and activities. The findings reveal that,

by closely experiencing the needed structures for independent artists to sustainably

grow in the current market, indie labels are able to create a suitable structure that

sustains these careers, adopting a flexible organisation and roles that assure it covers

different dimensions of support. Furthermore, by building and nurturing a shared

identity that represents the label, and establishing a close relationship with the audience

that relates to it, independent labels are able to promote new audiences for each of its

artists, while also supporting the sustainability of the collective. The promotion of

collaborative production contexts and creative freedom is also seen to heavily benefit

their musicians' artistic efforts, allowing them to learn and share different experiences.

Finally, this thesis concludes that the value-driven approach in independent labels also

contributes to a deeper feeling of success for the represented, mainly in the support and

freedom offered to artists to follow their artistic and career visions.

Keywords: Music industry, independent music labels, artist development, organisational

structure, collectivist production

Word count: 20600 words

2

### Acknowledgements

I would first like to express my gratitude to Cuca Monga and all its members, especially the ones participating in the interviews, not only for their support throughout this study, but mainly for the way I was treated and received by everyone in the label. It truly was a pleasure to study this amazing project.

Then, to all my friends, who accompanied and pushed me throughout this process.

Last but not least, to my family, for the constant support and love I receive in all my projects.

A todos, muito obrigado.

## Table of Contents

1.	Introduction	5
2.	Theoretical Framework	9
	2.1 Contemporary Music Industry	9
	2.2 Transaction Cost Economics and the Music Industry	. 13
	2.3 Contemporary Cultural Intermediaries	. 16
	2.4 Indie movements and labels	. 17
<b>3.</b>	Research Methodology	. 22
	3.1 Research Design	. 22
	3.2 Case study: Cuca Monga	. 24
	3.3 Research Sample	. 27
	3.4 Research Operationalisation	. 29
	3.5 Data Analysis	.31
	3.6 Quality criteria and ethical considerations	.33
4.	Results	.35
	4.1 Relevance of digital transformation and contemporary market dynamics	. 35
	4.2 Values and mission: supporting emerging artists	. 39
	4.3 Collectivist structure and production as potential benefits	
	4.4 Relevance of collective identity and community creation	.50
	4.5 Supporting sustainable career growth and development	. 55
5.	Conclusion	. 59
	References	. 63
	Annendix	. 70

#### 1. Introduction

According to various views, cultural production of different types can be conceptualized as a product of the relationships held inside, and between, crucial institutions in each sector (Strachan, 2007). Following this approach, the social and relational dynamics observed within these organizations are seen as the relevant explanatory factors for the popular cultural production inside each industry. When it comes to the music industry, this view would, in many cases, mean that music production would be limited to artists and organizations representing, and represented by, the dominant companies in the market- major music labels. In a pre-digital phase, this group gatekept most of the supply chain in the music industry, tightly controlling most of the production, distribution, and promotion, spaces, tools, and outlets, either by owning them, or by establishing corporate dependencies with other oligopolistic entities in the market (Bennet, 2018; Towse, 2020; Negus, 2019).

Observing the contemporary music industry scene, however, it is noticeable that more and more independent and DIY-oriented artists are successfully bursting onto mainstream, with Spotify reporting an accumulated income for independent and indie label artists in 2023 of 4.5 billion euros, approximately 50% of all the distributed revenues by the platform in that year (Spotify Loud and Clear, 2024). This growing presence is, according to many authors, explained by the democratization and digitalization dynamics that are visible within different dimensions of the music industry. Noticeable differences are detected in the way the industry is organized, and, therefore, in the strategies and process that each institution employs in producing and commercializing music (Frenneaux, 2023).

The established success of various independently released projects has led many authors in the field to study and provide valuable frameworks on the role, operations, and strategies of smaller, less hierarchical, music labels. Considering the cultural relevance these projects represent for the music sector, it becomes important to understand how indie labels emerge as alternatives to the major music groups, and how their activities are integrated within the digital market, understanding values and dynamics that escape mainstream models of production. This research will analyse the environment and values that shape the activities independent music labels, depicting how their processes navigate the current structure of the music industry for their artists'

success. It will explain their relationship with their musicians, and how the utilised artist and collective development strategies, and organizational constructs, differ from those seen in big music groups, analysing them in the current music industry, and understanding the viability and sustainability of indie labels' operations in this context. By understanding and describing how their values, relationships, strategies, and processes are utilised to promote the institutional and artistic growth of the artists represented by them, answering the research question: "How do independent music labels leverage their internal structure and the contemporary organisation of the music industry to support the commercial and artistic success of their artists?"

Recent technological developments are believed to have had a major impact in shaping how the music industry's value chain and division of labour are organised, changing how value is perceived, realised, and rewarded throughout it, and influencing the role and power dynamics held between actors in the music industry (Ali, 2021). These contractual and non-contractual relationships play, according to literature, a big role in defining the emerging business models and strategies followed in the industry (Hviid et all, 2018). Motivated by the democratisation process of production technology utilised in the supply chain, along with the decentralisation of traditional media channels, new contexts and entities have emerged as crucial dimensions for both music creators and consumers. Because of the relevant and diverse dynamics and actors emerging in this industry, and the complexity of the relationships between different entities globally, the music industry emerges as a relevant environment to analyse market dynamics and relationships beyond the production-consumption nexus (Brownlie, 2009).

Because of the context in which they grow, and the mission inherent to these organizations, independent movements and labels are crucial in assuring innovation and creative development in cultural industries, guaranteeing creative freedom, and creating markets, for innovative artistic currents across several sectors (Collet and Rémy, 2023). With the continuous shifting environment of the music industry, the study of indie labels also contributes to a better understanding of the relational environment in the sector, as the adaptive development approach they take on can explain underlying relationships between different entities in the market (Guerra, 2015). Past research on the topic has also focused on the shifting roles of cultural intermediaries among digitalization (Collet and Rémy, 2023; Khaire, 2017a; Hviid et al, 2018; Negus, 2002); the discourse, practices, and identity of indie movements and labels (Strachan, 2019; Matos, 2013;

Hesmondhalgh, 1997; Hesmondhalgh, 1998; Kruse, 2010); and the contribution of artist management processes to success in the music industry (Gaudesi, 2016).

As the processes and relationships in the industry keep changing as a result of digitalisation, it's still pertinent to analyse the effects of these changes in markets in which digital conglomerates and subsequent changes are increasingly influencing cultural production and consumption (Negus, 2019). Also, although the effects of digitalization on the operational aspects of the music industry have been previously explored in literature, the volatile and highly competitive environment of the contemporary music industry provides relevance to continuous analysis on the topic. For this reason, the Portuguese music industry emerges as a relevant environment to analyse these dimensions, as it solidifies the literature on these topics, geographically broadening its scope. Also, it's comparable structure to the global markets still fits the theories built around them, making it possible to rely on solid literature throughout the research. The country's music sector presented a growth of 25pp in streaming music revenues between 2022 and 2023, a format that represents 73% of the total generated in this market (Audiogest, 2024). Comparably, streaming services represent 67.3% of the global music revenues (IFPI, 2024).

Additionally, research has pointed to the transformative role of indie labels and movements on the centralised structures in the Portuguese music sector (Moura, 2021a), revealing the societal relevance of studying these dynamics and entities in this industry. By analysing the strategies and processes in place in Portuguese independent labels, this study will provide scholars and practitioners within the field with valuable insights on how these entities navigate this new market structure. It will, therefore, look to understand some alternative activities that can be adopted by emerging artists and projects in the market, detailing how these can work for their artistic and commercial benefit.

This thesis starts by analysing literature and present-day phenomena that describe the current social and economic structure of the music industry, as well as providing some considerations about the changing roles of different entities in the market, and the disintermediation and digitalization dynamics that explain these shifts. Also, supported by theories on the relationships held between and inside cultural organizations, it will investigate how different structures of division of labour work within the new music industry, and how different actors interact within these. After going through some of the theories and views on the changing role and relevance of intermediaries in the

contemporary music market, and on the organization, structural values, and activities of indie labels, the empirical dimension of this thesis will be based in a case study analysis of Cuca Monga, one of Portugal's fastest growing collectively organized independent labels. This case study comprises both participant observation work and semi-structured interviews with members of the label, across different roles and dimensions of the organization. Balancing the perspectives of the project's founders, signed artists, and administrative workers, the goal of this study is, therefore, to present a complete image of this label's positioning, structure, activities, and strategies, and how these impact its signed artists.

#### 2. Theoretical Framework

#### 2.1 Contemporary Music Industry

The new and easily available technological tools and techniques in music recording, distribution, and promotion, have led to the emergence and establishment of new market actors and dynamics, altering the economic and structural organization of this sector, and the consumption and production processes inherent to it (Hagberg and Kjellberg, 2020; Cohoy, 2017). With this, the noticeable changes in the music supply chain throughout the digitalization era can help provide a solid understanding of the current roles and activities assumed by different entities in the contemporary sector. Additionally, by examining the changes in the power dynamics held by major labels over smaller and emerging players in this market, one is able to extract valuable insights on the evolution of the different activities and relationships held between, and inside, the different entities of the music industry throughout time.

Literature has, almost unanimously, established the pre-digital music recording and publishing industries as working within an economic structure where few had access to production means and resources, retaining most of the attention and income in the market (Hardacker and Graham, 2000; Elberese, 2013; Anderson, 2004; Frenneaux, 2023). The structural organization of the market was heavily stratified, with a high level of dependence and specificity between roles and entities, and a strict division of labour throughout the supply chain (Ali et al., 2021). Although these contingencies were observed throughout various roles and phases of the value chain, they were accentuated for artists, who, in order to get their music out, depended completely on the establishment of a record deal with a major music label (Wayte, 2023). This occurred because of the tight control major labels held over the resources, tools, and structures, that would allow artists to interact in the market, including, among others, access to recording studios, oligopolistic distribution networks, and promotional media channels, all of which were usually owned by the same holding groups as these music groups (Towse, 2020; Graham et al., 2004). The fact that these production resources, and the activities needed for the appropriate commercialization of creative output, were seen as costly means of production, made record labels crucial resource-holders and "important capital-providing intermediaries" in the traditional music industry (Hviid et al., 2018, p.20).

The establishment of globally accessible production softwares, promotional tools, or distribution platforms, such as Logic, Instagram, or Spotify, respectively, has democratized the access of creators to production resources along the value chain, lowering the entry barriers to production and successful market interactions for musicians all over the world (Hodgson, 2021; Hesmondhalgh et al., 2021). By promoting the development of DIY methods and disintermediated spaces that allowed artists to undertake self-production, promotion, and distribution, processes, this digitalization process weakened the gatekeeping potential of major labels on the production side of the industry (Hviid et all, 2018). Also, by eliminating some of the costs associated with physical production and distribution, and with traditional promotional media channels, these emerging tools allowed small musicians and labels to access better cost structures when releasing music in the market, with less price barriers and fixed costs (Towse, 2020; Wayte, 2023).

While digital platforms look to comprise almost all cultural production in the music sector in accessible online spaces, with almost no entry barriers for those trying to produce music, they have also created a more competitive environment for those attempting to successfully pursue a career in this industry, creating an over-supplied market that can be hard to penetrate as an emerging artist (Negus, 2019; Hesmondhalgh et al., 2021). Considering this, research also points towards the gatekeeping potential of algorithms and recommendation systems in the long term, shaping consumption within mainstream taste, leading to higher costs of searching for something new, and emphasizing the concentration of attention and/or income in the top performers of the industry- superstars (Im et al, 2020; Frenneaux, 2023; Tofalvy and Koltai, 2023; Hodgson, 2021).

Im et al. (2020) also argue that the shift of the recorded music business from an ownership-based consumption model to an access-based one, motivated by the way music streaming is structured, has altered the economic organisation and value of the transactions in this sector. Also, adding to this, as points of contact between a varied number and type of entities, from musicians, to consumers, or advertisers in the platforms, DSPs are able to adapt and implement specific pricing and revenue strategies for actors within it, depending on their negotiation power. Reflective of this, the difference between the streaming rates established by DSPs with major labels and those negotiated with independent artists can be observed in Table 1, as presented by Towse (2020). Observing the table, it is inferable that, besides altering the economic structure

of the recorded music market for consumers, the revenue structures in place in streaming platforms have severely shifted the way artists access income, creating a complex web of rights-holders around recording and publishing rights that hinders independent creators' ability to earn money with music (Hesmondhalgh et al., 2021).

Table 1: Streaming Rates paid to Artists, 2019: US\$.

Streaming Platform	Major label artists	Unsigned artists
Spotify	0.00437	0.0038
Apple Music	0.00735	0.0064
Tidal	0.01250	0.0110
Deezer	0.00640	0.0056
YouTube	0.00069	0.0006

Source: <u>www.digitalmusicnews.com/2018/12/25/streaming-music-services-pay-2019/</u> as cited in Towse (2020)

Because of these changes, it is important to analyse how smaller actors in the supply chain can utilise and leverage these digital tools, managing the competitive and oversupplied environment they create, and capitalizing on the opportunities they provide to "escape" the densely structured gatekeeping structures mentioned above. Within this dimension, Morrow (2013) argued for the importance, for artists and labels, to reconsider their strategies and processes, in order to better reach the redefined image of successful market interactions for musicians. Also, facing a highly aggregated consumption space, there now is a growing need to address niches in the market (Hesmondalgh, 2013), with Frenneaux (2023) noting the relevance of brand developing for artists to effectively resonate with their audiences. To understand the importance of audience engagement in cultural markets, Jenkins (1992; 2006) put forward a perspective on participatory traits of modern fandom, due to the accessibility of usergenerated content. Audiences are now active participants, included in the promotional dynamics for artists, and creating 2-way dynamics between production and consumption. Similarly, Baym (2007), in a case study of the Swedish independent music scene, acknowledged the persistence of social grouping contexts, even amid a growing focus on individuality in social media, reporting the evolution of online communities of indie music fans into highly distributed and complex webs of interactions. Research done on the importance of social networks in the dissemination

of music content, events, and artists, centred in the use of Facebook in, Portugal, also points to a clear correlation between online engagement and effective fan participation and attendance, highlighting the role of recommendations and shares (peer networks) on consumption choices (Passos et al., 2012).

As supply actors adapt to these changes, Barber (2010) detailed some of the emerging audience-centered production models in contemporary music, adopting market research and data analysis methods to straighten the relationship with consumers, finding an ever-growing relevance in examining and investing the consumer-artist relationship. Holahan (2008) also states that digital platforms have created a visible demand for deeper, longer, consumer-artist relationships and interactions, with online being now seen as more than a promotion space, but as an essential requirement for sustainability in the industry. Citing Livia Tortella, Executive Vice President of Marketing of Atlantic Records, the same author shares that, while internet was initially leveraged as a good promotional tool for emerging artists or projects, it is now being re-imagined as an essential revenue stream, be it through the sale of merchandising, tickets, or advertisement spots. At the same time, the datacentered context in which platforms and algorithmic recommendations are based on has, according to some authors, also contributed for a change in the audience perspective and conceptualization of recorded music as a good, diminishing its value as a saleable tangible commodity and cultural symbol, and increasing its role as a "customer engagement tool" (Frenneaux, 2023; Seabrook, 2014). Playlists and algorithmic recommendations have provided listeners with the power to add value in consumption by selecting specific contexts and environments in which they listen to a song. Considering this, research points at the fact that consumer's role in the co-creation of value is being increasingly considered by artists, who now find themselves trying to provide fans with personalized interactions and content, and valuing audience engagement as much as streaming revenue (Ali et al, 2021).

Attempting to depict a contrast between the ways that major music groups and independent artists, or labels, navigate these new structures and interact within the market, the next section will make use of the contractual-based views on firm emergence and cultural production to analyse the music industry, looking to describe the supply processes and relationships that are comprised in it.

#### 2.2 Transaction Cost Economics and the Music Industry

Transaction Cost Economics (TCE) examines the costs of economic activities and transactions in an open market compared to those internally controlled through governance structures, in more or less hierarchically organized firms (Williamson, 1973). Actors will compare the costs of contracting in the market to those of internalizing certain operations, therefore selecting the most cost-effective combination of market and integrated transactions, finding the optimal mix between those to clearly define a production process (Demsetz, 1997). Applying TCE to the cultural industries, and to the music industry specifically, can provide valuable insights into the contrasting organizational decisions and dynamics of various entities in the music industry. This applies particularly to major and independent labels, as they represent a dichotomy between a fully integrated supply processes and navigating and negotiating in the market with other actors (Gander and Rieple, 2004).

Major labels are known for their extensive resources, including financial support, access to unlimited marketing channels, better cost structures, and dominance over global distribution networks. By internalizing most of the processes in the supply chain, from mixing and mastering the final products of recording sessions, to booking and promoting events and shows for their artists, they are able to minimize the risks of negotiating these in the market, specializing the inputs employed, and accessing better cost structures. However, this dense internal structure means that they may struggle to maintain the cultural and creative agility that independent labels offer, attained through their smaller structures and market-based transactions (Caves, 2003; Gander and Rieple, 2004). In this sense, independent labels leverage their organizational structure in order to maximize external networks, and market-based interactions, to support their artists. By externally contracting some of the operations, they're able to instigate the creativity and flexibility that allows them to adapt quickly to changes in the industry, and maintain closer, more personalized, relationships with their artists (Towse, 2020).

These differences reflect another key dimension of TCE on the music industry which relates to the processes and costs of internally monitoring the operations that are integrated in a company. As they're assuming most of the operations along the value chain, major labels build highly hierarchical structures to ensure the control of those

same processes. Because of that, the roles inside of these organisations end up being more stratified, creating a heavily structured division of labour in which actors are usually limited and controlled in the role they are assigned to (Gander and Rieple, 2004). Besides limiting different members in their involvement with the production process, these control structures also mean that the artistic roles and output are also heavily restrained, with different artists in the contemporary music industry publicly expressing their fights, against major labels, for creative freedom (Aubrey, 2024).

On the other hand, independent labels assume internal control and division of labour through a different model, most of the times relying on common values and goals to ensure that the processes incurred internally are done appropriately (Strachan, 2007). Also, the smaller human resource structures that characterize these entities explain the less rigid division of labour, with independent labels structuring in a similar to what is seen in Rothschild-Whitt's (1979) collectivist organization. Here, as the division of labour follows a more flexible approach, the same person who is handling the promotion and development of graphic content for artists, for example, can also be the person booking their shows, or managing the merchandise sales. Although it may lead to less specialized work, and require the actors in these organizations to have broader areas of expertise, these structures also reduce the specificity of inputs along the value chain, decreasing the label's dependency on specific entities or individuals along the way (Gander and Rieple, 2004).

Another dimension that is relevant to analyse refers to the distinction and cumulative process between creative and humdrum inputs and actors. According to Caves (2003), while the creative inputs and roles needed in cultural production are related to the production of the output itself, the humdrum ones regard the processes and inputs that answer to economic incentives of cultural markets. In the music industry, humdrum actors should, therefore, work to allow the cultural output to properly reach the biggest consumer pool possible, assuring the most stable and risk-free settings that guarantee the correct exploitation process of what is created by musicians. In this sense, the management processes usually work towards the maximization of opportunities in the market, allowing artists to focus on successfully creating music, all while ensuring that the bureaucratic and controlling processes inherent to music production are taken care of. These post-production efforts can include negotiating licensing rights with platforms, booking shows, venues, and recording spaces, analysing the market and

audiences in which the artist is placed, in a strategic examination of the artist's next steps, among varied others.

This strategic look, contrarily to what was seen in the past, is no longer abiding to a long-term defensive structure, but aiming at continuous adaptation and improvement, evolving in ways that assure more competitive advantage (Brown and Eisenhardt, 1998). Stacey (1993) argues for the dynamic traits of strategy, as the conceptualization of success, and successful strategies, vary with a changing environment and consequent shifts in belief systems that govern the organization. The identity-centred and adaptive traits of indie labels, explored in the next section, make these considerations crucial for understanding the strategic management processes that occur in these organizations.

Acknowledging the relevance of the TCE in the music industry, and of all these humdrum efforts for artists' careers, the emergence of DIY practices, and the democratization of resources in the music industry, reflects a shift in the way this the integration of processes and division of labour are conceptualized in the sector. As artists, and smaller labels, are now able to integrate most of the humdrum processes and roles, the functions and roles assumed in music management have shifted, and the differences between those seen in major and independent labels have been accentuated. While major labels' organizational structure allows them to provide a pre-defined set of services to their artists, usually common to all of them, independent labels usually assume a more adaptive approach to the musicians they represent (Guerra, 2015). As so, the activities undertaken by these organisations vary highly depending on the artists' needs and vision, and the external entities with which these processes are negotiated can also vary. For this reason, it is relevant for independent labels to maintain their aforementioned fluid structure and open market interactions, as they allow them to change the provided support depending on the context of each musician.

Besides this, the deeper understanding of management practices for artists, derived by the accessibility of these tools, also opens room for creative roles to have a bigger influence in the management decisions inherent to their careers (Frenneaux, 2023). By blurring the distinction between humdrum and creative roles, independent labels are believed to provide artists with more freedom and decision power over their activities and cultural production, something that, according to research, can be related to a deeper self-perception of success (Martin-Iverson, 2011).

#### 2.3 Contemporary Cultural Intermediaries

In order to better understand the roles inherent to the relationships explained in the previous section, this part will examine relevant visions on contemporary cultural intermediaries, particularly examining their roles in valuing cultural production and in the construction and categorization of markets for it. This research adheres to Smith Maguire and Matthews's (2012, p.551) view, heavily influenced by new economic sociology and actor-network theory, of cultural intermediaries as "actors involved in the qualification of goods, mediating economic and cultural values".

As was previously explored, different entities and roles emerged in the new supply chain of the music industry, while others were transformed, or became neglectable in the production process. A shift can be seen from the unidirectional models of cultural production, in which the value chain could almost be seen as an assembly line, tracing the movement of the creative output from artist to consumer (Negus, 2002). These views, besides being limited in their scope towards some creative production, follow a logic that is focused on industry constraints in the economic shaping of cultural production, and are contrary to the current assumptions that the creative output itself can also shape the market (Ali et al., 2021). Analysing this shift, therefore, we should consider the intertwined relationship of cultural and economic practices, placing intermediaries not as unidirectionally acting individuals, but as point of continuous engagement between creative product and consumer, and cultural production and its market (Negus, 2002).

In creative contexts, the way markets and audiences perceive and assign value to the traded goods and services is seen crucial for commercial success and rewarding creators for their work (Bordieu, 1985). McFall (2014) highlights that digitalization has created a distributed network of intermediaries who contribute to the qualification of cultural products, and guide consumer choices and perceived value of creative outputs. In this sense, for some authors, the role of music intermediaries in creating and defining a market for new scenes, projects, or artists, through their valorisation, can be compared to that of the artist itself (Collet and Rémy, 2022). This happens because, in an oversupplied market, if an artistic output doesn't meet the necessary conditions and social environment to be appropriately received, consumed, and maintained, the artist won't be able to adequately and sustainably reach and engage with audiences (Khaire, 2017b).

Following Karpik's (2010) singularities-based conceptualization, the dynamics in place for intermediation in these markets relate to the characteristics of cultural products, noting crucial factors such as quality uncertainty, incommensurability, and the multidisciplinary traits of outputs transactioned in the same market. Creating relevance in the association of a certain cultural product with the quality assignment devices that they develop, cultural intermediaries take advantage of their position, relatively unvested from economic interest when compared to producers, to generate lower levels of contestation over new products, labels, and definitions, in the market (Negus, 2002). By doing so, they're able to provide greater perceived legitimacy and impact to the movements they endorse, framing goods in a way that shapes and/or guides consumer choices, and levelling the playing field for emerging creators in the market (Khaire, 2017a). After understanding the roles cultural intermediaries undertake when valuing cultural production, the next section will explore this process within indie labels' context. Besides detailing their process in the developing and valuing process of the surrounding cultural production, it will also explore the conditions and values employed by these entities that facilitate the artistic settings and development of their artists.

#### 2.4 Independent movements and labels

Independent music, and the indie genre as a sociocultural, artistic, and market category, is a concept that embeds all music, and music-related activities, produced and distributed outside of the major music labels (Fonarow, 2006). The independent movement, and labels, are structured around a network of individuals and entities aiming to bypass the oligopolistic control of over the production and distribution of music, and looking to offer a voice to artistic expressions and scenes that aren't commercially viable or fitting for major labels (Hesmondalgh, 1999). Many have argued that this independence from mass market intends to instigate aesthetic diversity in the sector, as the corporatisation of music can lead to creative constraints (Mall, 2018; Hesmondhalgh 1999; Fonarow 2006). For these reasons, indie movements usually focus on the creation of cultural value for a certain field, providing a space for artists to create without compromising their artistic freedom and integrity, and minimizing the commodification-inducing forces inside their structure.

Because of this, regularly organized as small-scale cooperatives merged through socially supported constructs, indie labels usually discard the need for formal contracting, structures or processes, emphasizing their less hierarchical organization (Maffesoli, 2014; Bennet and Peterson, 2004). Even though most independent labels share traits related to their size, or the market share they reach, their definition and construction escape these dimensions. Instead, it is the artistic mission and social constructs that shape their distinctive positioning in the market, and the relationships and activities held with other entities (Strachan, 2007). In this environment, individual's shared principles allow for the increased valorisation of recognition among different actors, leading rewards to be valued beyond their economic or commercial value and appeal (Collet and Rémy, 2022).

Besides changes in the artistic and market position of independent artists, indie labels' strategies focus on organizing and adapting the space surrounding a certain artistic expression, providing internal conditions that reconfigure external pressures and allow scenes to develop within themselves (Bennet and Peterson, 2004). For that reason, in order to be able to provide a tailor-made support to artists in different development phases, these entities adopt what Guerra (2015) considers a learn-by-doing approach, in which the comprehended functions and roles undertaken by the label are constantly expanding. This view is, as was explored previously, considered to increase the flexibility of the organization when dealing with uncertainty and changes within the market, as well as the proximity with the represented artists. Also, it enhances the relevance of the network of entities with which indie labels interact throughout their development, such as managers, promoters, or event organizers, as they will also be able to shape and support the appropriate and professionalized integration of new activities and practices (Collet and Rémy, 2022).

Having said this, amid the digitalization process of the music industry, some authors consider that the distinction between indie and mainstream contexts and activities has blurred (Benzecry, 2012). The post-modern societal views, focused on plurality, instead of a self-centred vision of interactions, promote the establishment of DIY and DIT (do it together) practices as default strategies across cultural and creative industries (Maffesoli, 2014). Also, the explored relevance of cultural management, and intermediation, for successful music production, can force these structures to organize and adapt their relationships and strategies in an effort to make their activities sustainably successful. Although, in initial stages, the processes inside indie labels are usually more informal, and the relationships trust-based, the eventual need for professionalization in these organizations can lead to them adopting activities and

contractual settings similar to those seen in major labels (Hesmondalgh, 1999). This happens not only because of the scaling potential that these changes can bring, leaving the indie label with a more solid configuration to support more, and bigger, artists, but also because of the financial unsustainability that derives from more unstructured and uncontrolled management processes.

With this, Jones (2021) argues that, even as indie labels professionalize, they still maintain their core values and goals, which themselves end up guaranteeing that these structural changes are in alignment with the label's missions. Besides their organisational goals, the actors and dynamics representative of independent movements usually follow a system of shared values, aesthetics, and discourse, which are key to the coherence of their activities and development, and for the correct definition and distinction of this culture and its practices within society (Strachan, 2007).

In the post-punk scene lived in the UK around the 1970s and 1980s, the establishment of the independent scene brought a symbolic transformation of the perceptions and standards of consumers in the music industry, with genres such as indie pop representing new value regimes and aesthetics (Collet and Rémy, 2022). Faced with innovative musical currents and discourses, audiences emerged as a crucial propeller of the independent culture, as the identification with ethical values and practices they represented served as a reason for the backing of these, otherwise unsustainable, movements. As is still the case, therefore, the fostering of a collective identity among members of indie fans became crucial for the engagement of the fanbase itself with the artist, enhancing its loyalty, and developing a crucial relationship for the financial sustainability of the artist (Baym, 2017). In a view that is still relevant to this day, Firth (1984) differentiated independent rock scenes from the pop/mainstream ones in the stricter and defined audience they targeted, usually composed by those relating and supporting these cultures' identity expression, and how this audience was eventually reached. Contemporarily, as a way to reach these smaller audiences, and amid competitive pressures from major groups, indies have maintained their reputation as the first entities to exploit innovative possibilities of promotion and distribution in the music industry, something that is visible in their leveraging of online spaces (Hesmondalgh, 2014). This innovative mindset adds to the relevancy of this research, as studying independent labels' activities and strategies can be seen as an effective way of understanding potential new dynamics, tools, and values in the music industry.

The globalized market structure of music streaming, as was explored, has brought a reframed relevance for niche community establishment around an artist's or entity's common identity. For that reason, and in a genre where value alignment and the participatory dimension of audiences are so relevant to support the emergence of new projects, indie artists and labels are strategically utilizing their identity to commercialize their product (Miles, 1998). In this, artists assume the indie identity in a broader sense than a mere image, defining their values towards music production, structuring their style and aesthetic, and shaping the relationships they hold with other entities in the market. This is crucial for fans, as they value the coherence observed in the broader identity of independent musicians, increasing their emotional connection and loyalty with artists, and helping artists in a more engaged way than in mainstream consumption (Cummings, 2007).

In summary, the theoretical framework explored different views on the contemporary setting of the music industry, analysing different dimensions to understand the positioning and activities of independent labels in this market. By examining the technological developments within the digitalized music industry, we can conclude that the democratization of production and distribution tools has reshaped power dynamics, reduced entry barriers, and altered the positioning and economic structure of the market, creating relevant opportunities and challenges for emerging and independent artists. The application of Transaction Cost Economics (TCE) in this context elucidates the contrasting organizational strategies and structures of major and independent labels. Also, by highlighting how independent labels leverage their flexible configurations and external networks to adapt quickly to industry changes, one can also understand better the efforts made to closer and personalized artist support relationships. The examination of different theories on contemporary cultural intermediaries also underlines their crucial role in mediating, and creating, economic and cultural values, as the significance of legitimizing and valorising artistic expressions is even more relevant in indie scenes. Finally, the analysis of the emergence, formal traits, and activities, of independent labels, reveals their commitment to artistic freedom and value-based unity, while showcasing their organic approach to professionalisation and network-based support systems. This theoretical exploration aimed to provide a nuanced understanding of different dynamics and areas surrounding these organisations, highlighting relevant themes and dimensions to be empirically explored. Analysing them in real-life settings and cases, these dimensions will contribute to the understanding of the strategies and

structures employed to enhance the artistic and commercial success of these projects, and the artists they represent.

#### 3. Research Methodology

#### 3.1 Research Design

As it attempts to empirically analyse the motivations and processes that comprehend the activities and environment surrounding independent labels, this research is grounded on qualitative research methods. These were utilised, and defined, for their ability to appropriately interpret the different meanings and constructs that participants create while embedded in specific social and cultural dynamics, and within a specific context (Payne and Payne, 2004). Besides this, qualitative methods' ability to provide a more holistic view of certain activities or phenomena made it useful in the examination of the contexts and values that explain those same dynamics (Stake, 1995). The fact that this study looks to understand indie labels beyond their processual and internal dynamics, going into the motivations, values, and sociocultural settings, that guide these operations, also made qualitative strategy a viable approach to this research. This empirical study will employ these methods in an attempt to provide a comprehensive view of the context in which indie labels act, and, besides understanding their activities are structured, explain how this context shapes their mission to develop their musicians' artistic careers, reaching generalizable conclusions on the research question: "How do independent music labels leverage their internal structure and the contemporary organization of the music industry to support the commercial and artistic success of their artists?".

When it comes to the way research, and its conclusions, relate to the theoretical discussions and concepts in a field, Alvesson and Skoldberg (2010) found it hard to compartmentalize every research under as strictly inductive or deductive methods. In the context of this research, therefore, abductive research emerges as a the most appropriate approach to theory. Although still choosing empirics as the starting point for the analysis, this method recognises the role of the researcher's past knowledge in the analysed dynamics between the subject of study and the theoretical framework the study relies on (Thomas, 2010). While starting from empirical observation, this study used the theoretical framework on independent labels to validate the significance of the different dimensions analysed, developing a solid and relevant background to the research. The studied theories, therefore, ended up guiding the research methods and providing solid

explanation to the findings, enabling their appropriate exploration through the examination of the empirical setting.

The empirical dimension of this thesis, based on a qualitative approach, analysed a particular case study in order to study different motivations, dynamics, and perspectives, that are visible in the activities and discourse of independent labels. The case study focused on Portuguese independent label Cuca Monga, whose details and perceived relevance for research are explored in the next subsection. Yin (2014) argues that case study research is able to provide a complete context and perspective on small group behaviour, as well as organisational and managerial practices. He also refers to the concept of explanatory case studies, used in attempts to detail the causal links in real-life dynamics, activities, or phenomena, that are too complex, or for which the social and cultural context is too relevant, for surveys or experimental strategies. For this reason, by allowing the research to comprehend the causes and motivations that guide the activities and strategies in indie labels, this method was chosen because it explains why and how these activities occur, considering participants' different contexts, experiences, and views (Denzin and Lincoln, 2018; Stake, 1995).

When it comes to the operational methods employed in the analysis of the case study, this research combined the use of semi-structured interviews with participant observation work. Regarding the first, although some thematic guidelines, and associated questions, were prepared prior to each interview, no formal interview script was strictly followed throughout the conversations. Besides providing the interviewer with the needed flexibility to create and adjust questions during the conversation, allowing for specific themes to be explored in more detail, this structure also made the discourse more natural and informal, providing freedom for all parties to follow up on interesting topics and dimensions as they arise (Patton, 2015; Bryman, 2016). Another relevant dimension of semi-structured interviews, presented by Rubin and Rubin (2011), is that they provide the opportunity to adaptively capture the context and opinions of each interviewee, giving relevance the interviewer's sensitivity while conducting them. By relying on this, the researcher was able to understand which topics can be further explored in each interview, how relevant they were for the interviewee, and the amount of detail that each member could provide on the different dimensions explored. This was deemed appropriate for this research because of the relevance and heterogeneity that can be found, for different members, in their opinions on crucial motivations and dynamics within independent labels. One was, therefore, able to collect, and connect,

relevant information and perspectives on different dimensions of Cuca Monga's activities, painting the most complete picture of these organizations' goals and strategies, and how they are perceived by different interested parties. Each interview lasted between 40 minutes and 1 hour and a half, and all of them were conducted online, through Google Meets, and recorded, stored, and transcribed, with the use of tl;dv. This is an AI software which automatically transcribes interviews, timestamping them based on the topics covered, therefore proving useful in the analysis of each conversation. Although the language used in each interview varied on the participant, and on his relationship with the researcher, the setting of each conversation can be considered informal.

Besides interviews, as was mentioned, this empirical study was also built around the analysis of participant observation work, which consists of the immersion of the researcher within the environment, physical space, and activities, of the subject of analysis. It was utilised, in this thesis, as it grants a deeper comprehension of the social context experienced in independent labels, allowing the researcher to capture the ruling discourse and values that shape the relationships between the studied individuals (Spradley, 1980). This method also gives relevance to the relationship that is formed with the object of study during the period the researcher spends accompanying the participants, as the trust established with the researcher can lead to more honest and authentic responses from the studied individuals (Bernard, 2017).

In the context of this thesis, the participant observation method comprised two different settings and moments. These consisted in the presence and engagement of the researcher within the label's Patreon online community, for four months prior to the development of this study; and the visit to the label's physical space, in Lisbon, on April 9<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> of 2024, in which the researcher was able to get in contact with the daily life and environment experienced in Cuca Monga. Considering the explored relevance of identity-connected audiences for independent projects, the first scenario helped understand the dynamics and relationship fostered by Cuca Monga with their fanbase. Although it was initially motivated by the researcher's personal interest in the project, it provided a good image on how this community works from an outsider's perspective, giving insights on how the label communicates and engages with its audience. The second, also looking to deepen the connections and relationship held with the object of study, allowed the researcher to capture the label's real environment, developing a more

complete image of the relational dynamics, and guiding values, that are reflected inside Cuca Monga.

#### 3.2 Case study: Cuca Monga

This subject of analysis in this case study is the Portuguese independent label and collective Cuca Monga. Considering the theoretical axioms that dominate scholar discussions on indie labels, their activities, and how they interact with their environment, this is understood to be a valid subject of study for two reasons: the Portuguese music industry context, and the stage of development and growth of Cuca Monga within this market.

Considering the growth of approximately 25pp on the share of revenues credited to music streaming, in Portugal, in 2023, these models now comprehend around 73% of all the generated income in the country's music industry, showing that the globally dominant role of platforms can clearly be observed in this market (Audiogest, 2024). Besides this, the independent scene in Portugal, previously explored in literature, embodies certain traits, positioning, and missions, that can also be easily comparable to most scholar observations on the topic. One the one hand, Matos (2013) and Moura (2021a) have both pointed to the weaker positions of these entities in the market, reasserting major's global dominance over the music industry's revenues and attention. On the other, they also mention the transformative impact that indie labels had over the ruling structures and entities of the Portuguese market, emerging against the precarious conditions and the lack of support structures for music production in the country. During the country's post-dictatorship period, the destruction of the barriers that were held between national and foreign music production motivated the emerging Portuguese movements to take inspiration on the values, discourse, and motivations of the global independent music scenes (Abreu, 2010). We can, therefore, infer that their objectives were, and still are, aligned with the universal discourse that characterises this movement, looking to provide a voice to underground cultural production, offering creative and shaping market conditions so that these movements can grow sustainably. The findings of Moura (2021a; 2021b), Matos (2013), and Guerra (2010) also point at other commonly visible traits in Portuguese indie labels, such as the decentralization dynamics they instigate, moving the production and consumption processes away from the Porto-Lisbon centralized structures. This highlights the market creation and

categorization role played by these institutions, and the relevance of these cultural dissemination hubs for the creative and cultural development of the country's music scene. Considering this, the Portuguese music sector was taken as a relevant, and globally comparable, industry to analyse the organisational and behavioural patterns of indie labels.

The object of this study, Cuca Monga, is an independent label and collective created in 2014 by the Portuguese indie rock band Capitão Fausto, along with friends Diogo Rodrigues, Joaquim Quadros, Vicente Futscher and António Branco. The project, initially established in a studio in Alvalade, was initially conceptualised as a centre for collective music production, promoting the exchange of ideas between various artists in Lisbon's indie music scene. However, the progressive establishment of associated groups, such as Ganso or Modernos, as true representatives of the independent scenes in the city, allowed the collective to grow in notoriety and size, embracing new artists into the project in an effort to help launch and develop these scenes. This development also allowed for the organisation to clearly define its mission among the independent scene in Portugal, looking to provide the conditions and environment necessary to upcoming artists in the genre to grow, release music, and develop artistically and in their careers. For that reason, Cuca Monga is legally established as a nonprofit, enhancing the noncommercial roots of the project, and highlighting the motivations behind its emergence. Cuca Monga, as a label, was initially built around informal groups of musicians looking to advise and support each other, with the members of Capitão Fausto playing a major role in the help provided to the associated acts. However, in line with its professionalisation and development, the label now counts with two full time employees, and three interns, that take care of the administrative dimensions of music management, building towards more stable and professionalized activities and support structures.

Now established as one of the country's most influential labels, and as one of the main representatives of independently organized music production, Cuca Monga currently works with around 20 acts, offering a range of tailor-made services to their artists that include support in promotion, production, and distribution, tour and event organization and booking, and informal management activities. Besides this, Cuca Monga's constant commitment to its independent and alternative identity has made the collective an important and influential player in the Portuguese music scene. Their coherent values and practices also allowed the label to create a strong fan community,

with which they hold a tight relationship, initially concentrated in Lisbon, that now spreads across the whole country.

By selecting Cuca Monga as the subject of study of this research, this thesis adhered to a mix between typical and critical case sampling. Typical sampling usually relates to the choice of a particular case because it is representative of the norm, meaning that most of the activities observed, and studied, in it, should apply to the entire class/entity/role that the case represents. Comparing the previously mentioned motivations, discourse, stage of development, and organizational structure of the label, with the cases studied and described in the literature, we can assume that Cuca Monga is a good proxy of the dynamics and activities of independent labels globally. Therefore, as a solid representative of the category under analysis, Cuca Monga is able to provide reliability and applicability to the conclusions reached, holding some inductive relevance over what is happening in similar entities and settings (Bryman, 2016).

On the other hand, critical sampling strategy looks to explore the conditions and dynamics visible in a specifically relevant case, attempting to understand a certain phenomenon through the analysis of an example that stands out, either positively or negatively (Yin, 2014). Looking to depict some of the successful strategies and dynamics that independent labels can incorporate, it was, therefore, equally important to select a particularly successful subject of research, allowing the study to reach solid conclusions about possible structures and activities that indie labels can utilize to sustainably grow. The growth and success that Cuca Monga has been experiencing, and the visible development of the artists and bands associated with it, places this label as a specifically relevant positive case. The varied efforts and strategies that are employed into the label's growth, along with their artists' artistic and commercial development, justify how useful it can be to analyse what is done in this organization.

#### 3.3 Research Sample

Although the participant observation work was targeted at the label as a whole, the chosen sample for the interviews conducted specifically attempted to include experts in different roles of Cuca Monga. Because of this, it comprised some of the label's founders, artists, administrative and business support roles, aiming to include people from different contexts and in different stages of development in, and outside, the label. As this research looked to comprise different perspectives, on the diverse topics and

dimensions studied, it reached eight members that had distinct experiences among the organisation, both in terms of the time spent in the label and in the roles and impact it has had on them.

With this said, however, it is relevant to consider that, adopting the less hierarchical and collectively organized structure that is followed by other indie labels, the less strict division of labour visible in Cuca Monga means that members can assume different functions inside the organization. This means, for example, that the members of Capitão Fausto were able to present perspectives as artists releasing music in the market, represented by Cuca Mong, but also as the label's founders, and as part of the team that provides strategic and structural support to the artists represented. For that reason, the less structured guidelines of the interviews were, once again, justified, as they allowed members to explore their different positions and functions in the organization, and to present their perspectives according to that. Although more detailed descriptions of each of the interviewed members can be found before each of the interviews' transcripts, the selected participants, and respective roles, were as follows:

Table 2: Interviewed participants

Name	Role in Cuca Monga
Miguel Marôco	Solo artist
Francisco Ferreira	Founder and informal creative director
Cláudia Sul	Solo artist
Flávia Duarte	Administrative support FTE
Domingos Coimbra	Founder, artist, and informal A&R and
	director
Diogo Rodrigues	Founder, producer, artist
Luís Ogando	Administrative support FTE and artist
Tomás Wallenstein	Founder, artist, and informal director

FTE: Full time employee

#### 3.4 Research Operationalisation

As was touched upon previously, the literature reviewed earlier served as a preliminary phase of understanding the environments and dynamics that were be analysed in the empirical case, identifying relevant dynamics and patterns in

independent movements and labels, as well as in the music industry's market. This allowed for the definition of theoretical themes, listed below, that guided the construction of the empirical side of the study. These themes steered the data collection process, for both methods, something that was accomplished due to the flexibility that case studies bring in the iterative structuring of data collection, also giving room to the cross-influencing between the utilised methods (Bryman, 2016). In this sense, the defined themes served as a starting point for the notes taken during the participant observation work, as the researcher was especially attentive to how they materialized in Cuca Monga. Following this, along with the preliminary empirical findings from participant observation, they allowed for the appropriate development of interview guides, shaping the topics and questions that were targeted for each of the participants. Also, besides enabling the better definition of crucial dimensions and dynamics to be empirically analysed, the themes also facilitated for the consequent analysis to be supported in comparisons between empirical reality and theoretical views. Serving as examples, accompanying each of the defined themes, are some questions that were formulated to gather the participants' views on the topics.

#### Themes to be empirically observed:

- Emerging opportunities and challenges, for indie artists and labels, in the contemporary music industry (What do you believe are some recent changes for independent artists in recent years? Which are the emerging opportunities that arose from this?)
- Positioning and goals of independent labels and artists within the music industry (Do you see the artists in the indie scene competing with mainstream music for the same resources and audiences? How would you define your audience?)
- Values and context that shapes the activities of indie labels (*How are the label's values and mission defined? How do you perceive/evaluate success for each of the artists in the label?*)
- Roles and activities internalized by indie labels to support their artists (Considering your priorities and career development, what are the key processes that Cuca Monga carries out which allow you to move forward, or focus on more crucial activities?)

- Organisational structure and division of labour in indie labels (How do you usually organize activities and decision-making internally? Do you believe the label's specific organisational structure is beneficial to its artists and projects?)
- Influence of indie labels over their artists' social, financial, and creative conditions (Do you feel like the label provides you the space, social conditions, and freedom to follow your artistic visions? Is the collective aspect of production a planned strategy or just representative of the label's collectivist identity?)
- Concrete tools and strategies utilized by indie labels to promote their artists' career development (What are some of the strategies that allowed you to explore music releasing in different ways? What are some of the activities that grant the sustainability of artists' careers?)
- Role of indie labels in creating and shaping markets/audience for their projects and relevance of collective value identification for that audience (How relevant is the collective's identity to guarantee audience engagement and the creation of a solid fanbase? How do you balance the collective image of Cuca Monga with establishing individual artistic identities for the label's artists?)

Also, as this research looked to comprise different opinions, and realistic perspectives, on the different topics and dimensions studied, two different frameworks were developed in preparation for the interviews, distinguishing the interviews conducted with members who are "just" artists, and the ones conducted with the collective's founding, supporting, or administrative, members. Although both frameworks touch upon all the themes mentioned above, this was done in order to be able to compare the label's strategic and conceptual goals with how these really impact the careers and development of each artist. The guidelines for each interview can be analysed in Table A1 and A2, in the Appendix section, each accompanied by the intended goal for each section, and some additional questions that could be asked to the interviewee regarding that dimension. It is important to refer that, although these questions served as useful models for the interviews, the topics were explored in different orders, within different contexts, which led to different questions arising in each conversation. Also, allowing the interviewees to explore the dimensions in which

each was more knowledgeable, some of the topics were further explored in certain interviews than others.

#### 3.5 Data Analysis

Following the above-described processes, the data analysed in this research was based in two main sources: a notebook including field notes on the dynamics seen during the observation period in the label's physical space and gathered through participation in the label's online fan community; and transcripts and recordings of the interviews conducted with the different members. As a starting point for the data analysis, all the this was comprised and structured as one, allowing for a coherent representation of all relevant areas discussed with the objects of research. Following this process, this research relied on a thematic analysis to structure and examine the comprised information, which was done following the six phases described by Terry et al. (2017):

- 1) Familiarization with data and theoretical concepts
- 2) Generation of codes based on the collected data
- 3) Construction of themes covering different dimensions
- 4) Reviewing potential themes
- 5) Defining and naming themes
- 6) Producing and reporting the conclusions

The aforementioned interplay between theoretical concepts and the dimensions visible in the empirical study played a relevant part in the initial approach to the data analysis. Acknowledging the defined themes, without allowing them to entirely guide the analytical process, the researcher's first step consisted in understanding and filtering the qualitative data, both in the notes taken during observation work, and the time stamped recordings provided by tl;dv. By utilising these timestamps, the researcher was able to identify specific parts of the interviews where relevant topics were mentioned, allowing for an easier identification of the most significantly mentioned topics in the interviews. This process allowed for the initial creation of 13 relevant dimensions that were touched upon by participants. Although the full system is detailed in the Appendix,

dimensions such as "contemporary music industry", "division of labour and organisational structure", and "audiences" were some of the initially defined ones.

For the appropriate groundedness and accuracy of the results and conclusions of this process was followed by the hand coding of the interview transcripts, describing how, how often, and by whom, specific dimensions and activities were touched upon, and assigning relevance to participants' specific views over the defined dimensions. In this sense, while "contemporary music industry" entails a topical dimension, it was still relevant to distinguish "competitive structure of the market" from "challenges related to algorithms", for example, to accurately understand participants' opinions on the topic. Following this, this study relied on hand coding in an attempt to leverage the researcher's previous established relationships and knowledge on the case study, which put him in the position to analyse considerations, and interpret specific connotations, in contexts that go beyond their literal meaning. Therefore, after the initial dimensions, the collected data was categorised in a more precise and meticulous way, in a process that created a total of 36 codes emerged. Other examples of these codes, which are also fully identified in the Appendix section, include "relevance of a physical space", "advantages of more human resources", and "relevance of technical and structural support for parttime musicians".

Although these codes, and the 13 dimensions defined priorly, can, in their majority, be categorized under each of the predefined theoretical themes, it is important to point a relevant difference between them. While the theory-based themes brought up the relevant activities and dynamics for consequent empirical analysis, it was only through these generated codes that one was able to understand how each of those themes materialize in Cuca Monga, and how they're relevance is perceived by the participants. It was the dimensions, and consequent codes, therefore, that guided the analytical conclusions of this research.

It's relevant to consider that this research attempted to provide empirical conclusions that, while specific to the case study, could also add to the scholar discussions examined initially. Because of this, following the steps of thematic analysis described by literature, the next step of Data Analysis consisted in defining areas that would cover each of the codes, allowing for a clear representation of the results. By doing so, one was able to generate connections between the dynamics explored in Cuca Monga and how they relate to the literature on the topic, creating the areas that

structured the next section of the thesis. By employing this process, the bellow listed of topics was determined, and consequently reviewed:

- 1. Relevance of digital transformation and contemporary market dynamics
- 2. Values and mission: supporting emerging artists
- 3. Collectivist production and structure as potential benefits
- 4. Relevance of identity and community creation
- 5. Supporting sustainable career growth and development

The last steps of this process consisted of detailing the results and conclusions emerging from the analysed and structured data, making sure that the studied activities and dynamics answer the research question comprehensively.

#### 3.6 Quality criteria and ethical considerations

By adopting two separate methods in the data collection process, divided through time, this research is following Denzin's (1970) concept of data and methodological triangulation. He states that, in research, triangulation is related to the process of ensuring the validity of the collected data, and, consequently, of the conclusions reached. By analysing data collected through different methods, in participant observation and interviews, this study was able to reach a more comprehensive understanding of the researched label, ensuring that the findings are not biased or limited by a single approach. On the other hand, data triangulation was achieved by reaching out to different actors, in different environments and dates, making sure that the perspectives captured on the different dimensions were heterogeneous, and allowing for a more complete and coherent picture of the label's activities and development.

Also, in order to guarantee the privacy and consent of each participating member, and of the label as an entity, the intended goal, research question, and detailed structure of this thesis was presented to every member prior to the start of each step of the data collection process. Besides this, consent forms, adhering to the structure provided by Erasmus University Rotterdam, were signed by 5 of the 8 participants, allowing this research to openly use the collected data and respective identities of the members of Cuca Monga. The 3 remaining participants (Domingos Coimbra, Cláudia Sul and Francisco Ferreira) also explicitly consented for this study to use their names and interviews, either orally or through email or WhatsApp message. Although this consent

was provided in accordance with the consent forms' terms, these members did not have the chance to formally sign the form in time for the delivery of this thesis.

#### 4. Results

Aiming to present a structured view on the results gathered from research, and their applicability and relationship with the theoretical dimensions observed earlier, this section will follow a thematic line while describing the context and activities of Cuca Monga. It will begin by detailing the participants' visions and self-positioning amid the contemporary music industry, exploring emerging challenges related to this, and describing the relevance of digital transformation for indie and smaller artists in this market. Following this, understanding how these market pressures shape its mission to grant sustainable support to emerging artistic careers, it will describe the structural values and discourse of Cuca Monga, examining specific dynamics and activities that reflect the relationships and ambitions carried out by independent labels. After this, these results will describe how the label's adaptive approach and collectivist structure, both in its formal organisation and in the production context, are utilised in favour of the collective and of the artists it represents. Subsequently, it will describe the dynamics held between Cuca Monga and its community, relating them to literature on identity creation and identification for indie labels, and understanding the relevance of this value-united fanbase in the organisation's activities. Finally, this section will analyse the impact and influence of Cuca Monga on their artists' strategic approach to sustainable careers. By understanding relevant dynamics integrated by the organisation to provide creative freedom and career accountability for musicians, linking them with the participants' perception of success in the industry, it will look to understand how Cuca Monga contributes to a greater feeling of success for its artists.

# 4.1 Relevance of digital transformation and contemporary market dynamics

Serving as contextual basis for the activities and missions internalised by independent labels in the contemporary music industry, every interview began by discussing, and examining the participants' views, over the current structure and visible in this market, and the associated challenges that come from this. Although other entities and dynamics were mentioned by participants, the answers and opinion expressed primarily focused on the power, and consequent impact, of accessible production tools, streaming services, and social media platforms. In line with what was

referred by Cohoy (2017) and Hagberg and Kjellberg (2020), interviewed members believe that establishment of these solutions has influenced the market beyond the operational aspects of production and consumption, with the accessibility of digital tools and platforms also altering "how you make music, who is involved in music, (...) and how many people make music" (Miguel Marôco, solo artist). According to the views of 6 participants, the establishment of digital platforms and solutions in the industry has allowed more artists to actively and competitively produce and release music. Although they acknowledge the benefits of accessing a global consumer pool through these platforms, members almost unanimously highlight the challenges related to the high levels of competition, for audiences and attention, in online spaces. As Miguel (artist) puts it, "there are so many voices and actors, for the same audiences and consumption, that it becomes almost impossible for you to penetrate this sea of millions of voices". Francisco Ferreira, one of the label's founders, informal Creative Director, and someone who's heavily involved in Cuca Monga's image and social media strategy, believes that the effects of this oversupplied market are aggravated to independent and smaller projects due to the walls raised between them and consumers by to algorithmic systems:

"Now, non-chronological algorithms, and also recommendation systems, dominate the market. The big issue about this is that, with small projects, the battle for attention has never been more difficult, and we need to find ways that bypass this algorithm, assuring that those that follow us don't rely on these algorithms to be posted on what we're doing"

As streaming and social media platforms became the dominant consumption, promotion, and distribution spaces in music, they were also able to establish paid promotion, playlist placement, recommendation biases, and other services, for artists to earn competitive advantage. With this, the advantageous resources of major labels enable them to establish stronger market and contractual positions, as mentioned by Marshall (2012), allowing them to launch financially backed mass campaigns that dominate the attention in these platforms. In this sense, in line with the conclusions of Im et al. (2020), and Bonini and Gandini (2019), algorithms and recommendation systems are perceived to still hold gatekeeping potential over independent projects through the way they shape consumption. Francisco (founder, creative director) also highlights the walls raised, also for consumers, in the access to emerging and

independent projects: "For indie listeners, there is a digital barrier they have to break, because the music you'll be exposed to will be the heavily financially supported one, from Spotify playlists and ads, to ads on Instagram or YouTube." Adding to this, 4 of the label's members also attribute relevance to a global shortening of attention span and loss of interest in long-form content, such as albums. For indie artists, this phenomena makes it even harder to sustainably reach and increase their audiences, as their artistic output is usually not produced for instant commercial appeal, requiring most consumers to invest more time before developing engagement with the song or artist (Luís Ogando, FTE).

As was explored previously, theory points at the accessibility and democratisation of production and promotion resources as an explanatory dynamic that diminishes the impact of intensively financially supported projects (Towse, 2020; Hviid et al., 2018). However, according to members, along with the gatekeeping paywalls described above, the current revenue and income distribution structures in the music industry still assign major labels a big relative market power in this sector. In the participants' opinion, global streaming payout structure has put independent artists in a position in which it is no longer viable to sustain a career based on (digital) music sales. For them, as indie projects usually target niche audiences, the aggregated payment of streaming is now almost neglectable for artists in this scene. While, in a recent past, the sale of physical editions was enough to keep small projects financially sustainable, the dominant positions of streaming services, and their inherent income distribution structures, has forced independent projects to notice the relevance of different dimensions As Domingos (founder, artist, A&R) puts it:

"In the past, for smaller artists, physical editions still allowed them to make money off of their projects. An artist that sold 300 or 400 CDs was already generating 4 or 5 thousand euros. (...) Now, small artists need two main things: to play in live concerts and establish a good circuit of shows that is financially sustainable (...) and a strong digital presence, because everything is centralized now. But you still have less revenues coming from that."

Live shows, and performing in general, are considered, for 6 of the interviewed members, the current key revenue stream for artists globally, earning additional relevance in the context of independent artists, for their difficulty to access digital revenues. These opinions are aligned with Marshall's (2015) conclusions that, while, in

the traditional music industry, artists would tour to promote their album sales, the digital revenue structures have now inverted this dynamic, with music being released to promote tours. For these reasons, in an effort to maintain the financial sustainability that allows it to pursue its mission, Cuca Monga also looks to constantly diversify its activities and revenue sources, increasing the project's adaptability, and relying less on specific activities to keep going:

"All the areas in which we are present (...) account for really similar revenues, in the bigger picture. In some major labels, (...) streaming and digital sales represent a strong bulk of all the revenues. (...) In our case, things are much more balanced, because only the joint force of all our efforts allows us to stay afloat and to keep on doing our work. We are a label, but essentially have to make much more than just a label to keep developing." (Tomás Wallenstein, founder, artist, director)"

Also, when it comes to the sustainability of each artist's project, Cuca Monga also attempts to diversify the revenue sources that support their careers. In this sense, the establishment of solid partnerships with event promoters, venues, merchandise producers, among other entities, allows them to extend their efforts among different realms, producing events, merchandising, physical editions, among others, to support their artists' financial earnings. According to members, it's crucial for independent projects to diversify their income structures, as it allows for more flexibility and sustainability in the long term, reason why the label looks to leverage its network and innovative mindset to create new ways of monetising artistic careers.

One last relevant dynamic that was explored by participants refers to the impacts of digitalisation over traditional media means of promotion. Although many scholars point at the decentralisation, and consequent loss of power, of these methods (Towse, 2020; Hodgson, 2021), 3 of the founding members still see relevance in their ability to reach mainstream audiences in a larger scale. Not only does Domingos (founder, artist, A&R) highlight the role of radio stations Antena 3, Radar, and Futura in the mainstream promotion of the label's artists, but Diogo (founder, producer, artist) also details the impact that playing in one of the country's most listened to stations had on the live audiences of Capitão Fausto. As he puts it: "Now (Capitão) Fausto are playing in Rádio Comercial, for the first time in Cuca Monga (...) and you can clearly

see the differences in the audiences that's attending the shows. (...) You can find 8-year-old kids and 90-year-old people".

With this, however, it is important to notice that the emergence of alternative promotional methods has, according to Tomás Wallenstein (founder, artist, director), increased the costs of accessing the aforementioned traditional media channels. Although the interviewed founders and administrative roles believe in the scaling potential of these, the label's limited financial resources hinder their ability to organise massive promotional campaigns. In a country in which mainstream mediums still play an important role in the proliferation of culture, the financial power of major labels allows them, therefore, to maintain a disproportionate share of the market power (Tomás Wallenstein, founder, artist, director). The dissimilarity between the market and contractual positions assumed by different actors, and the challenges that come with it, shape the mission and values of independent labels, as they aim to level the playing field for emerging artists attempting to sustainably grow in the music industry. These values, and how they shape the activities in Cuca Monga, and their success, will be analysed in the next subsection.

# 4.2 Values and mission: supporting emerging artists

Having set the participants' perceived relevance and self-positioning within the contemporary dynamics and structure of the music industry, it is important to understand how this environment shapes the label's mission and values, and how these guide the main activities of the organisation. Relying on the opinions provided by the label's founders, it is visible that, in line with what was referred in literature, Cuca Monga was initially conceptualised as a place to promote, and nurture, a pressure-free creative space for emerging musical currents and projects. Although, as will be explored ahead, the project would eventually undertake more strategic and defined goals in the development of its artists, the artistic basis for Cuca Monga's operations still relies on the founding members' original vision. According to them, it's important to promote "a collective space in which you can meet others, record with them, exchange ideas, hear and see the ideas of others, and grow with that, which is really rare" (Domingos Coimbra, founder, artist, A&R). The strong cultural roots that were established, and are still carried out, in the project, go in line to what is proposed by Hesmondhalgh (1999),

defining the goals of indie movements in their efforts to promote artistic diversity in the sector, freeing music production of commodification-inducing forces. Although this topic will be further explored ahead, it's relevant to consider that, by providing a space in which emerging artists can collectively develop and express their creative visions, Cuca Monga is able to instigate artistic growth amongst its projects.

This collective production space also stemmed from the founding members' will to "create something that could go beyond just our band" (Tomás Wallenstein, founder, artist, director). After starting to experience success, and having navigated and interacted with different structures and entities in the music industry, the members of Capitão Fausto felt the need to also start developing structures and dynamics that could support the continuous development of independent scenes and innovative artistic production.

Following these efforts, in the initial years of Cuca Monga, parallelly to the increasing number of artists and bands associated with this collective space, the members of Capitão Fausto also created smaller projects between them and producer, and friend, Diogo Rodrigues. These acts, such as El Salvador, or B1SHPØ, were managed, released, and promoted, under the Cuca Monga brand, establishing the collective in the Lisbon independent scene (Domingos Coimbra, founder, artist, A&R; Tomás Wallenstein, founder, artist, director). This process, while relevant from an artistic perspective, also highlight important dynamics that helped define the goals and activities of Cuca Monga as a label.

Besides reassuring their interest to create and explore new musical aesthetics and currents, these smaller projects allowed the founders to, amid the growing success of Capitão Fausto, recapture the feelings, dynamics, and positioning for emerging artists in the market. Discussing the driving forces behind the label's activities, 2 members of Capitão Fausto refer that the shared goal of the support provided by Cuca Monga relates to members' closer understanding of the challenges in the market for new currents and musicians. Considering this statement from Tomás (founder, artist, director), one is able to understand how the label's mission was influenced by this perception:

"We believe that there are a lot of artists whose projects are valid and deserve to reach audiences, and sometimes those artists are not obvious bets for majors,

because of their scaling difficulties or because they're not as financially rewarding. What we try to do is work with those same artists."

This vision, and the values it represents, are even more emphasized by the nonprofit legal format the entity assumes, and by the fact that most of the founding members referred that they don't get regularly paid by the label. Relying on the previously examined literature, one is able to find points of contact between the mission and main goals of this entity, and the overarching values that shape indie movements globally, in their unvested interest for diverse cultural production (Hesmondalgh, 1999; Frenneaux, 2023). It is, however, relevant to point out that the blurring lines between artist and founder, while supporting and serving this social and artistic mission, also benefit Cuca Monga in the strategic understanding of the dynamics and activities to follow for their artists' success. By experiencing this reality closely, founders were able to capture the real challenges and needs faced by independent artists, following what was identified by Guerra (2015) as a learn-by-doing approach in a process that defined the critical areas of support needed for emerging artists in the scene. In this sense, Francisco (founder, creative director) refers that "going through all these different experiences (...) made us realise what was needed for emerging artists, and how we wanted to do things: what we wanted to keep in the label, and what we didn't".

Similarly to what was pointed out by Bennet and Peterson (2004), participants argue that Cuca Monga's goals are, therefore, to provide a solid structure which reconfigures the external pressures that weaken emerging artists' positions in the market, allowing them to develop commercially and artistically (Francisco Ferreira, founder, creative director). Because of this, Cuca Monga internalises processes such as recording and mastering, managing digital releases and distribution, dealing with promoting agencies, creating graphic content for all music-related content, producing and distributing merchandise, among others. By integrating these activities, along with the stronger contractual position that the label brings when negotiating with other entities (Miguel Marôco, artist), Cuca Monga is able to lower the barriers and needed inputs for emerging artists to successfully and sustainably participate in this market.

The fact that most of the label's artists are musicians in part-time is also relevant in explaining the project's goals and activities. According to literature, and in line with the opinions of 5 members, the financially unsustainable environment in the music industry can lead many artists to assume different jobs, leaving them less time and

availability to deal with the structural and bureaucratic aspects of managing artistic careers (Frenneaux, 2023). However, by providing them with "support in every single dimension that doesn't involve the creative product itself" (Flávia Duarte, FTE), the label is looks to assure the sustainability of these projects, allowing part-time artists to dedicate the time they can spend with music just on the artistic creation. Also, considering that independent entities and musicians don't usually have access to financial structures that allow them to competitively rival with major players in the market, as was proposed by Collet and Rémy (2022), Cuca Monga looks to provide quality and innovative solutions that enable their artists to compete in in a more levelled playing field: "Our job is also to give artists the chance to have quality content, like the one seen in bigger projects, even when they are not in the career phase that would usually translate into that quality" (Francisco Ferreira, founder, creative director). Although every interviewed member acknowledges the advantages associated with the resources usually held by major labels, most consider that the values, and consequent financial position, of Cuca Monga, are also crucial to the appropriate development of the label's mission:

"In the case of majors, you have much more restrictions, even if it's just financial control... You (majors) have a bigger team, and you're able to finance conditions that we would never be able to (...) but I feel like the work we do is only possible because we don't have these restrictions. Also, because of our financial limitations, we're able to find more creative solutions and ways of doing things. (...) We try to build a sustainable structure, but which still prioritizes freedom and creativity." (Domingos Coimbra, founder, artist, A&R)

These dynamics and views are of relevant comparison to the scholar views presented earlier in this thesis, as they relate to contractual theories and TCE views on the humdrum inputs over music creation. Although DIY and self-management tools now allow artists to undertake these processes on their own (Maffesoli, 2014), other roles and activities are seen as still relevant in a successful and competitive process music production. Also, considering the efforts needed for emerging acts to compete on this market, bureaucratic and management support structures become even more valuable for indie musicians, as they can guarantee that the artist finds sustainability through other sources, while maintaining its artistic identity and visions intact. Although the perceived impacts of these activities on the artists they support will be reexplored ahead,

it is still relevant to point out how they shed a light on how the label's vision materializes in its strategy.

Finally, besides providing a background structure and competitive support for emerging artists, Cuca Monga's values are also reflected by the contractual and structural relationships held with the artists it represents. According to participants, since the label's decision to sign artists doesn't solely rely on their career stage or commercial potential, it works with musicians that represent different needs, resources, and career goals and stages. For this reason, in line to what's argued by Guerra (2015) as indie label's adaptive approach, Cuca Monga establishes personalised agreements, touching upon different support dimensions, with the artists it represents, creating tailor-made structures that continuously broaden the scope of activities internalised in the label (Domingos Coimbra, founder, artist, A&R). In this sense, it ends up touching upon different support dimensions, from informal management, to event production, promotion, or booking, catering to the artists' needs and not to a predefined set of services (Diogo Rodrigues, founder, producer, artist).

Besides this, although all of the contracts have fixed terms, such as a royalty and merchandise rates, these are comparably lower than the ones observed in major labels, and the Masters of each project fully remain as property of the artist (Flávia Duarte, FTE; Tomás Wallenstein, founder, artist, director). Additionally, as Flávia details, Cuca Monga's non-profiting roots also spread to the contractual enforcement dynamics: "With concerts, we take a small percentage of the revenues. However, our flexibility also means that, if we see that a certain concert didn't make that much money, we will waive the right for our share of the revenues".

Having the established social constructs in Cuca Monga, and how they shape the label's mission and operations, the next section will dive deeper into how it influences the institutional and production environments and structures inside the organisation. Thoroughly examined in literature, indie label's values and goals are seen as playing a big part in how their formal structure is organised, and on how the division of labour and collectivist configuration of these entities are designed. The next section will examine how the roles, (in)formal structure, and collectivist traits of production, of Cuca Monga, are perceived by its members, exploring how they can benefit the activities and development of the project, and of the artists it represents.

## 4.3 Collectivist structure and production as potential benefits

As can be observed above, the creation of Cuca Monga, and the progressive shaping of its activities and mission, occurred in a natural and organic way. Participants of the study, mainly the ones that have been involved in the project for a long time, unanimously identify with the fact that "Cuca Monga stopped being a group of friends that have a label, and started being a label that has a group of friends" (Francisco Ferreira, founder, creative director). These informal traits relate to what's described in literature as a collectivist view on formal organisation and relationships, assuming the role of value-based unity inside the label in the definition of the discourse and type of interactions held in this entity (Strachan, 2007). As Cuca Monga was initially created by a group of friends sharing the same mission and outlook on what the label should represent and do, the environment on the label has remained as informal as possible, while every added member is still aligned in the crucial missions and goals. For this reason, as is characteristic of collectives, the definition and success of these activities relies on individual's identification with the project's overarching values, and not on hierarchic structures and roles (Rothschild-Whitt, 1979). According to Luís Ogando (FTE, artist), this organizational setting relies on the emotional connection that each of the founding and administrative members has developed with the project. Because of it, individuals are more focused on the global goals and projects, than on working or developing their own dimension or area of expertise.

The ruling, but unofficial, discourse guidelines in Cuca Monga were clearly visible in the environment captured in their physical setting, in the behind-the-scenes content produced and released in their online fan community, and in the way the members welcomed and created a relationship with the researcher. They were also detailed as one of the perceived positive points for the artists in the label, as the friendship and informality that rules relationships held in the organisation are seen to create a positive environment for personal and professional development (Cláudia Sul, artist). A contributing factor to this, according to 5 participants, is that, even with the development of a more solid and structured support network for artists, the guiding relationships and discourse of the project still remain untouched:

"We want to be better, grow with our artists, and support them better, and that's why organically became more structured (...) but this project still relates to how

we want to enjoy life. We like sharing new songs, meeting new friends, who have different voices, and hearing what they have to say, and that's what we want to keep doing." (Diogo Rodrigues, founder, producer, artist)

The solidification of these common values between members has, throughout the evolution of the aforementioned support structures, contributed to the creation of a flat hierarchical structure in Cuca Monga, in which roles and inputs are not too specifically divided or controlled. This was also a product of the inferior financial position and human resources that is characteristic of independent projects, and for the need to adapt to them. As Flávia (FTE) put it: "You can't strictly divide your tasks when we're just two-full time employees, so we always resort to helping each other in everything". These views relate deeply to Gander and Rieple's (2004) views of unstructured division of labour in independent labels. As can be inferred in the theoretical framework, in comparison to the highly specialised and professionalised structures observed in major labels, this division of labour can lead to less efficient inputs in certain areas, and more complicated decision-making processes in indie labels. Embracing Guerra's (2015) previously mentioned adaptive approach towards professionalisation, however, this less specific division of labour is reflective of important dynamics in the development of the label's artists, related to the creation and leveraging of areas of expertise between founders, and with artists.

Built around the support provided by the members of Capitão Fausto, Cuca Monga's activities and development, initially, relied heavily on the founding member's inputs and knowledge on the music industry and independent scene. According to Domingos (founder, artist, A&R) and Tomás (founder, artist, director), the diverse areas of structural support were, and, in many cases, still are, therefore, split between the members according to specific areas of interest and expertise. The label looks, therefore, to leverage Francisco's (founder, creative director) design background, or António Branco's (founder) job as a lawyer, for example, to guarantee appropriate support in the creation of graphic content for its artists, or the needed legal structure and contracting for the functioning of Cuca Monga. While still promoting a collective approach to each activity, the nurturing, and leveraging, of specific areas between its founders is seen as crucial for the improvement and growth of the project.

Also, facing the growing need for an administrative background structure, 3 of the founding members mention that the artistic and academic experiences of the administrative members that joined the project was an important part of the professionalisation of the label's structure. Besides providing specific support in the business and legal fields which they studied, Luís (FTE, artist) and Flávia's (FTE) experiences as part of a Cuca Monga band, and member of a theatre production company, respectively, crucially guarantee their knowledge and alignment with the ruling mission and main activities of the label. Therefore, even considering that "everyone does a bit of everything, and if someone doesn't have time, others will take care of it" (Diogo Rodrigues, founder, producer, artist), Cuca Monga is able to build solid support structures that, with time, become more sustainable and self-sufficient. As Tomás (founder, artist, director) puts it:

"(after Luís and Flávia joined) our systems and processes are way more fluid now. Before, Domingos would have to be really on top of every release. Now, things such as monitoring, the royalty distribution, the merchandise sales, our website... everything works in a much more "oiled" way."

Contrasting this process with literature, Hesmondalgh (1999) mentioned that, as they develop internally, and looking to form more effective and solid support structures for their artists, indie labels can assume dynamics and settings similar to those seen in major labels. However, even considering that Cuca Monga is now able to employ full time workers to handle the business aspects of music management, these structures are still distinct from what is seen in bigger projects, as they are considerably less formal, hierarchical, and divided. While allowing the label to become more flexible and adapt to different challenges and needs, as was argued by Caves (2003), this decision confirms Jones' (2021) view that, even amid professionalisation, the value-based identity of these organisations assures that these structural changes are in alignment with the label's overarching goals.

Another relevant dimension that describes Cuca Monga's structural division and organisation relates to the collectivist vision it holds regarding the artistic and non-artistic roles of signed musicians within the label- "It's interesting for us that we create a space where people can get involved in everything, even beyond music production" (Domingos Coimbra, founder, artist, A&R). Considering that, as was explored, a relevant number of the label's artists have other careers and backgrounds, Cuca Monga also looks to leverage their diverse knowledge for the collective's benefit, giving artists the opportunity to influence the development of the project in areas other than music.

For this reason, processes such as the production of graphic or audiovisual content, or the mastering of songs, among others, are often dealt by artists who have expertise on this fields. By doing so, besides guaranteeing flexibility and adaptability in the appropriate and diverse development of projects and activities that enhance their artists careers, Cuca Monga is also creating an environment that instigates personal development, and financial sustainability, for artists, in areas that escape music production. This vision, materialized in all of the founders' opinions, is also seen as beneficial for the involved artists. Cláudia Sul (artist), for example, mentions that the opportunity to produce audiovisual content for Capitão Fausto greatly deepened the connection between her and the label, by involving her "beyond what's expected", while it also allowing her to develop in a field in which she has so much interest. These perspectives are of great relevance to the research question of this thesis, as they conceptualise artist development in Cuca Monga in a more holistic way. Connecting this inclusive approach with the friendship-based discourse and environment that is promoted, one can understand that Cuca Monga attempts to provide its members with a positive space in which, although music production is a relevant dimension, artists are seen and developed beyond their artistic output.

With this said, however, it's relevant to understand that the collectivist approach observed in the support processes employed by Cuca Monga also applies to the artistic environment that is created in the label. The label's mission, explored in the previous section, emerges, once again, as a relevant dimension, as all the participants refer to the positive influence of sharing a pressure-free collective production space. The presence of a physical space, in this context, is also taken as one of the crucial factors that contribute to artistic development, with 3 members naming it the most important component of the structure provided by Cuca Monga. This shared studio, located in the ground floor of the label's physical space, is offered to artists at cost price, allowing all of its members to, organically, "play in the same context, and be able to influence and be influenced by others" (Miguel Marôco, artist). Before exploring these influences deeper, it's important to note that all the founders agree that these "collectivist traits come from a mix of both- strategy and organic setting of having everyone in the same space" (Francisco Ferreira, founder, creative director). For a better understanding on why this space is arranged by the label, the initial steps and projects established in Cuca Monga by its founders regain relevance, as can be seen here:

"The collective environment we provide to artists is not only a result of our initial goal with Cuca, but also comes from the progressive understanding that these things work since our first space in Alvalade. We understood how the process of being there, creating collectively, seeing how others did things, (...) and collaborating with different artists, stimulates artistic growth and creativity." (Tomás Wallenstein, founder, artist, director)

Considering these views, this physical and collective space of production looks to leverage the positive externalities observed in cooperative cultural production, once again reflecting the guiding role of the label's mission. By offering a space which artists can produce and work on the songs of others, and allow others to also influence them, Cuca Monga works towards the artistic success of their musicians, creating learning and development opportunities in their creation process that they wouldn't have otherwise. Also, considering the different career stages and artistic background that each artist in the label has, the opportunity to share a production environment leads to an increase in the diversity and creativity within this context. By doing so, once again, the Cuca Monga guarantees that different music production, and "the creation of new things" (Domingos Coimbra, founder, artist, A&R), is instigated, promoting the creative development of the artistic movements it supports. Additionally, the support provided by nationally established musicians, in the members of Capitão Fausto, and producer Diogo Rodrigues, also enhances the positive traits of this production space, as was mentioned by Miguel (artist):

"Since I knew and listened to these guys before being part of the label, I can now learn things that I wanted to learn, with people that do the things that I like. (...) I go to the studio and Diogo (Rodrigues) is recording something, and I see how he places the microphone, or how he records a certain sound. Then Manel (founder, artist) is doing it differently... So, you always try to understand and learn what they're doing, and here you get to."

These collective experiences, and approaches to cultural production, although characteristic of indie movements since their emergence (Hesmondalgh, 1999), have become almost standard procedures in different creative sectors, with DIT-orientated practices being adopted also by big entities in the market (Maffesoli, 2014). In line with what Jones (2021) argues, however, Tomás' (founder, artist, director) comments

enlighten a strong difference between why these practices are adopted within different structures:

". (...) (collective spaces of production) is actually something that even major labels are looking nowadays, as they understand that collaborations can cross-pollinate audiences, and there are commercial gains that arise from that. Our look is somewhat different though, because, from all our years working like this, we understand that the biggest advantage really is the exchange of ideas, working methods, seeing how different people have different creative visions, etc..."

Considering the different missions that guide the activities of independent and major labels, this contrast in naturally seen in the final goal of their different strategies. With this said, however, the commercial advantages of collective production, and release, of music are also considered by the label, with Tomás also acknowledging that "we also end up being much more interesting for audiences as a collective than if we were just a label".

Analysing this view, although the explained structures and activities hold great relevance in the artistic development of Cuca Monga's artists, it's also important to comprehend how they're tied to the label's efforts to commercially sustain the acts represented, and the collective itself. Moreso, in the competitive structure of the market, it makes it even more important to understand how Cuca Monga promotes this "interest" in audiences, creating and promoting a brand that resonates with fans, and leads them to follow and support the music released in the label. For this reason, the next section of this thesis will analyse the label's creation of a collective identity, and its effect among Cuca Monga's audiences and artists. It will explore the importance of identity creation in this context, the dynamics and strategies established to enhance and maintain the community that supports it, and, understanding the balance between individual and collective identities inside the project, detail how it supports its artists in their commercial success.

## 4.4 Relevance of collective identity and community creation

As was detailed before, the unbalanced positions of different actors in the contemporary music industry force independent labels to create a coherent image and identity that spark a specific interest and identification within the niche audiences they target (Miles, 1998). Following this rationale, according to participants, it's crucial for Cuca Monga to, besides employing its principles internally, build a value-based collective identity, which their fanbase can support and identify with. Two of the members mention that, although fan communities are also visible in mainstream, independent communities, for their value-based roots, and usually smaller size, are able to establish a closer artist-fan relationship. In this sense, Francisco (founder, creative director) argues that, taking inspiration from the alternative rock and fringe movements, Cuca Monga works to deconstruct the barrier that usually separates mainstream artists and fans, attempting to establish a "small, but loyal, audience" that is closely connected with the label's mission. As is also portrayed in Domingos' (founder, artist, A&R) comments, this value-based association is key for Cuca Monga:

"In a time where everything is taken for granted, and there is more and more content (...) we have to make sure that the 3 minutes that someone spends listening to you provides them with something else, making this interaction more special, and make the fans want to go back to your work. (...) We try, therefore, to create a system in which some people, that identify themselves with our mentality, understand that buying merch, or going to concerts, contributes to this broader mission"

As was proposed by Baym (2017), interviewed members consider that the non-commercial approach, and goals, that are carried out by Cuca Monga, facilitate the support earned from their fanbase, as this community is not only connected through the interest in specific artists or songs, but, most importantly, connected in its will to support independent music production. Because of this, fans are more likely to support these projects beyond the music consumption perspective. This happens because, as the label is able to transmit their social and artistic mission and reality, audiences become more identified with the project, perceiving themselves as "more essential to our development than the mainstream audience usually does" (Tomás Wallenstein, founder, artist, director). Investing in this community, becomes, therefore, crucial to the label's development in the contemporary market, embodying the efforts to "make fans want to

offer more than the 0.003 cents we get for streaming" (Francisco Ferreira, founder, creative director). This collective identity, and the dynamics it establishes, were seen to lead to the creation of alternative revenue sources that allow the label to keep investing in its artists and projects:

"Our goals with these efforts are to reinvest. For example, organizing concerts from the Conjunto Cuca Monga (the collective)- we know they will fund individual tours. The money earned, even from the label, goes all into investing in a bigger tour that allows for the artists to grow and showcase their work" (Domingos, founder, artist, A&R)

When discussing the different strategies utilised by Cuca Monga to promote the fan engagement that ensures the continuous development of its community, participants unanimously referred the investment and management of online communities held in platforms such as Patreon and Discord channels. Cuca Monga's Patreon community, including exclusive content, chatting rooms, and discounts on merchandising, can be accessed by fans at a monthly cost between of  $1 \in$  and  $7 \in$ , and, from a strategic point of view, looks to "create an actual paywall to destroy the algorithmic paywall" (Francisco Ferreira, artist, creative director). As it can represent a constant financial support for the organisation, the Patreon channel instigates the label to generate new forms of content and engagement in order to keep fans and audiences interested, and invested, in the project. The content produced for this page has, according to 3 members, increased in quality and quantity in recent years, now including recorded shows and acoustic versions, tutorials and lessons offered by the artists, behind-the-scenes content and collaborative recording sessions and concerts, and updates on the label's activities, among others. Besides highlighting the collective mission of the label, through the tutorials offered to artistically connect the community, this exclusive content also provides audiences with a closer look into the atmosphere and relationships lived inside Cuca Monga, creating a bigger feeling of belonging and identification with the project.

In addition to this, Cuca Monga's Patreon, Instagram communication channels, and Discord platforms are also utilised as two-way communication means held between them and the community. Besides allowing the label to feel the pulse of its fanbase, understanding which type of content they want to see next, what music they've been listening to, these channels also motivate this community to share their cultural production. By doing so, it opens the door for emerging artists in the community to

establish an initial relationship with the label from a fan perspective, that can consequently evolve into the integration of those acts in the collective, as was the case of Miguel Marôco (artist). Considering this, besides leveraging these tools to create traction through audience-generated content (as was detailed by Jenkins (2006)), the openness and responsiveness of Cuca Monga in these channels creates a deeper meaning for these interactions that "make the audience feel more valued" as a part of the Cuca Monga community (Francisco Ferreira, founder, creative director).

As was also reflected in the theoretical framework (Passos et al., 2012), online fan communities, and the appropriate investment in them, are seen in Cuca Monga as directly correlating with actual audience participation and engagement, both digitally and in real-life contexts, such as concerts or events. Leveraging and promoting this, according to 4 of the members, besides organising listening parties, and other physical events, to establish and feel the engagement of this community, Cuca Monga also looks to reward and incentivise fans after live shows, by taking the time to meet and talk with them. Besides increasing, once again, the connection fans feel with the projects they support, these experiences also seen to provide artists additional motivation to follow their honest artistic visions. As is explained by Francisco (founder, creative director):

"In concerts, going to meet the fans after, and being behind the merchandising counter, for example, is something we know the audience values a lot. Also, the artist feels more strive to carry on because they know that people are really supporting their artistic expression, and the fans create a much deeper and more honest connection with the artists they know personally. They go beyond the label of content creator and consumer; it's about life and relating emotionally to the art you consume."

According to other 3 founders, and once again connecting to the mission incorporated by the organisation, these activities are important in Cuca Monga's mission as they assure their artists are motivated to pursue their genuine artistic expression. Considering this, beyond contributing to the label's financial and commercial sustainability, the nurturing of a collective identity, and of the community that supports it, is also crucial in the generation of emotional rewards to each of the artists in Cuca Monga. Considering this, it proves important to analyse other areas in which collective identity can individually benefit the artists' commercial, artistic, and social conditions.

The strengthening of the group's identity, through these initiatives, and with projects such as Cuca Vida, a collaborative album between all members of the label, or the organisation of collective tours under Coletivo Cuca Monga, is able to generate, according to members, a global commercial interest in Cuca Monga's project, which can expand to every artist in the label. According to Domingos (founder, artist, A&R) and Francisco (founder, creative director), these connections between collective and individual support are part of the label's strategy, as they attempt to create an ecosystem that is able to cross-pollinate audiences, leading artists to have stronger and bigger fanbases:

"One might explore Cuca Monga because they originally like Capitão Fausto, or emmy Curls, but maybe he will get into the Discord channel and find out about Zarco, or Miguel Marôco. (...) this collective view means that one artist also promotes the other" (Francisco, founder, creative director)

These dynamics, highlighted by the interviewed artists, help musicians in the promotion of commercial success, as they allow them to reach new audiences through their association with Cuca Monga's collective identity. Considering the sonic and social proximity among the label's projects, the definition of the indie niche in Portugal, and the strongly value-based identity of its fan community, it's easier for Cuca Monga's artists to better define and target audiences in the market (Domingos Coimbra, founder, artist, A&R; Cláudia Sul, artist). Also, by relating artists to an established collective brand, the label is able generate lower levels of contestation for emerging acts in the market, as Negus (2002) argues as a big function of intermediating cultural production. Utilising the Cuca Monga "stamp", therefore, the label is able to shape and enlarge the markets for emerging cultural productions in a more effective way, contributing to the social environment that appropriately receives and maintains these productions (Khaire, 2017). For these efforts, Cuca Monga also works with the digital tools provided in the market, such as Spotify analytics, and others, understanding which demographics or regions they should try and cater to in the production of tours, or content (Tomás Wallenstein, founder, artist, director).

While considering the role of these collective dynamics and strategies in the commercial and social development of artists, members almost unanimously referred to the importance of balancing the establishment of this shared brand with the creation of individual artistic identities among different projects in the label. Miguel (artist) and

Cláudia (artist) mentioned that, although being represented by the label's identity supports them in different dimensions, it's important for them that they're "not just seen as a part of Cuca Monga". In this sense, Cuca Monga also works to minimize this risk, resetting the principal mission of the label around the artists and their music:

"We try to build to mitigate that (mixing the collective's identity and individual artists' identity) risk. In the end, the most important thing is the music produced by our artists, not Cuca Monga or the collective itself. (...) The artist is in the centre of our work, and everything, from the production process, to the released covers and promotional materials, is centred in the artist itself."

Reflecting this, the label employs strategies to ensure that individual artistic identities are preserved among their collectivist vision. This happens through the efficient scheduling of concerts and releases, that avoids audience cannibalism between artists, the spread-out means of promotion their press releases reach, or the appropriate strategic management of the artists' image and positioning (Francisco Ferreira, founder, creative director).

The collective visions explored in this section, although aligned with the artistic vision of Cuca Monga, also highlight the strategic dimension of the structure provided by the label to its artists. As the research question attempts to understand the full influence of Cuca Monga over their artists' careers, in their commercial and artistic success, it's relevant to consider the relevance of strategic views on cultural production, as mentioned in the literature review. So, after comprehending how this independent label promotes the institutional, artistic, and commercial success of its artists, the next section will explore the label's vision and employed activities over the strategic support of their careers. Additionally, in contrast with processes usually seen in major labels (Gander and Rieple, 2004), it will analyse how the freedom provided to artists in decision-making processes promotes their self-development and the maintenance of their artistic identity. Finally, it will explain how, influenced by the commercial-free interests of the organisation and of its relationship with its musicians, this freedom contributes to the artists' perception of career success.

## 4.5 Supporting sustainable career growth and development

Considering the explored challenges associated with long-term sustainability in independent projects it's important to understand how the label supports artists develop a long-term, sustainable, and strategic, vision on their career management. As was established in the theoretical framework, the conceptualization of successful strategy depends on the overarching values that guide an organisation's activities, goals, and principles (Stacey, 1993). In this sense, Cuca Monga's measurement of success, and of the steps that can be taken to sustainably reach it, are notably driven by its mission, with Flávia (FTE) mentioning:

"(to measure artistic careers' success) We don't really look at streaming numbers on Spotify. We know on which things the success and sustainability of artists are reliant on, so we try to implement them, giving all the conditions for the artist to keep its vision"

For the holistic and lasting creation of these conditions, according to members, it is, however, relevant for Cuca Monga to have a strategic outlook on the careers of its artists, with Flávia continuing: "Sometimes we notice that some artist has a smaller audience in a certain region, so we try to get more shows in that city, for example, and assure sustainable grow, even in a small scale". While reflecting the planned process of deciding artists' best next steps, these views also highlight the priority of artistic sustainability and development over commercial success in the support offered by Cuca Monga.

As was explored in the third subsection of these results, the founding members past experiences in the music industry are a key component of this support, as it allows them to have hindsight and understand "steps they (emerging artists) can take to play in more shows, to reach new audiences, better conditions, ect..." (Tomás, founder, artist, director). As well as this, the two administrative full-time employees, the diverse backgrounds within the collective's members, and the general efforts to understand and new dynamics and tools in the music industry, are seen as key in successfully defining and implementing strategies for the long-term success of artists. As Miguel (artist) comments: "you're able to get valuable strategic support from those who've been doing this for longer than you, or that have done it in different ways".

An unanimously mentioned factor on the career management of Cuca Monga's artists, however, is that the "label never imposes any rules or restrictions to them" (Flávia, FTE), meaning that, while it may advise them on specific steps and activities, it focuses more on providing artists the tools to take decisions and follow their artistic visions. This dynamic, and the role played by Cuca Monga in the career decisions of their artists, are interestingly reflected in the collected data. Artists almost unanimously refer to the relevance of the informal support and advice provided by the label's structure in the pursuit and shaping their next artistic steps, or decisions. However, most of the label's founders also visualize Cuca Monga as only working "to help fulfil the artists' vision", with some undervaluing the label's role in the formal career management process as a whole. This difference marks an interesting dynamic between the label and its artists, also product of the previously mentioned adaptive traits of each relationship established by Cuca Monga. Because of this, while the label's artists have complete freedom in the decisions and activities they want to follow, they also count with members that advise them, while providing a structure that proactively supports their visions as they are. In this sense, the label assumes a position in which it is only as invested in their artists' career management and decisions as the artists wishes (Miguel Marôco, artist). This attitude is clearly visible in Cláudia's (artist) comments:

"The first thing they (Cuca Monga) told me was "Ok, we're here talking and planning your career, but if you don't want to release anything in the next two years, it's fine, it's your decision", so I don't feel any sort of pressure... What they really do is: if you have an idea, they will do everything to make it happen, they're really proactive."

It's relevant to understand these dynamics while acknowledging the relevance of genuine artistic expression, and, consequently, of allowing artistic visions to be fulfilled, in the context of independent music (Hesmondalgh, 1999). For these reasons, according to participants, Cuca Monga's approach towards the development of their artists' careers contributes to a stronger feeling of career fulfilment and success inherent to the musicians it represents. On one side, as it is able the to offer operative support in the traditional dimensions of labels, such as the production of new music releases or promotional campaigns, artists are able to leverage its structure to ensure the appropriate and sustainable creation and release of their music. However, due to the support and freedom provided in the management dimension of artistic careers, artists

are able to establish and follow their visions beyond music production. Also, the label's adaptive structure, and the consequent establishment of a solid network with other entities, allows it to be flexible in the support provided to artists in these realms. As Cláudia (artist) continues:

"We were discussing lauching some merch along with my new single, and, since the name is "Gin", I proposed cup coasters. Instantly, they were able to find someone that could supply that, and helped me work on the design and in everything, and in two days we had it fixed"

Considering the creative and freedom and conditions provided by Cuca Monga, it's therefore interesting to analyse how they relate to the bidimensional view their artists relate to success in their artistic ventures. Miguel (artist) details:

"Success is a twofold definition: making a lot of money with what you're doing, and reaching a lot of people; and doing what you want, the way you want, and reaching a final product of which you're proud, and you like. (...) For me success is a middleground here, it's about reaching as many people as possible, by doing what is true to your visions"

Tying up different dimensions of this research, this statement is relevant in comprehensively answering the research question, and understanding how Cuca Monga contributes to their artists' success. Going back to the work done by the label to sustainably broaden and define their artists' audiences, and to promote positive externalities among collective production spaces, one can see that artists are given the tools to develop their artistic and commercial conditions. According to participants, although the financial position of Cuca Monga can sometimes hinder the successful implementation of all the artistic visions in the label, its adaptive approach still it allows artists to freely pursue their own visions. As literature explains, this increased autonomy and control over their career leads to a stronger self-perception of success for artists involved in independent music (Martin-Iverson, 2011). As Cláudia (artist) says: "I'm abiding to what I want to do, what I want to say, without any external pressures. (...)

The creative freedom, and respecting what I want to say, is enough for my perceived success." Therefore, by not only building an environment that's receptive to artists' ideas and visions, but also providing the structure that is able to put them into practice,

Cuca Monga is able to promote a strong feeling of self-realisation between among its musicians.

#### 5. Conclusion

This research's primary goal was to explore the artist development processes and strategies employed in independent labels, specifically explaining the way they utilise their internal organisation, and dynamics and positioning within the contemporary music industry, to promote their artists' commercial and artistic success. The research question guiding this study was, therefore: "How do independent music labels leverage their internal structure and the contemporary organization of the music industry to support the commercial and artistic success of their artists?"

Analysing different scholar and participant views on the contemporary music industry, a relevant foundational context for the development of this paper is the challenging positions faced by independent artists in the (still) heavily gatekept and oversupplied contemporary music market. Because of this, Cuca Monga, and indie labels in general, emerge based on the mission to level the playing field in this sector, promoting conditions that allow emerging artists and scenes to competitively and sustainably keep producing and releasing.

The findings in this research indicate that, embodying the common traits of indie labels, Cuca Monga adopts a value-based approach to its development, prioritizing artistic development over commercial success. By promoting a space of collective cultural production, that looks to eliminate commercial pressures over the creation of music, Cuca Monga is able to provide artists with opportunities for artistic growth and development. Considering the positive externalities that can come with this collaborative process, both in the creativity it sparks, and in the learning opportunities that are present when working with others, the label is able to offer the appropriate space for artists develop their artistic competences, while following their creative vision.

The label's structure, characterised by a flat hierarchy with low levels of division of labour, also looks to emphasise collective development and production, leading the members of the organisation to, while developing specific areas of expertise, work united in the label's activities. Besides allowing for a more holistic and adaptive construction of the support structure that is offered to artists, this view also leverages the members' past experiences in the music industry, assuring that the steps and

activities followed by artists are the right ones for their development. This collectivist view on the label's structuring is also extended for artists, as they also have the chances to get involved and support the label in dimensions other than music. In this sense, besides supporting their financial sustainability, Cuca Monga offers artists the chance to work in other areas that align with their personal development.

As the necessary backing of independent artists can vary on their career stage, or needed support, this flexible structure is also able to appropriately adapt to each artist's needs, granting a comprehensive support across different phases and activities of their career. Therefore, even though bureaucratic behind-the-scenes activities are usually internalised for every artist, the label also looks to maintain a good network of entities that allow for the development of innovative strategies and dynamics that promote artist development and financial sustainability.

When it comes to the leveraging of online solutions and dynamics, the label's utilisation of Patreon and Discord online channels is seen as one of the most relevant activities in the creation and establishment of a supportive community. This community, heavily driven by value-identification with the label's collective image, is a crucial part of Cuca Monga's development, granting its financial sustainability and the continuous support musicians' artistic ventures. In this sense, the label invests consistently in the creation of a closer relationship with its fanbase, creating innovative content that lowers the barrier between artist and fan, and granting the constant engagement of audiences with the collective and with the different artists it represents. By doing this, Cuca Monga is able to create an ecosystem that, while granting that artists don't lose their individual artistic brand, cross-pollinates artists' audiences, creating and expanding markets for the cultural production held inside the label. Besides this, the closer and coherent relationship held with audiences, in the context of indie music, also relates to stronger motivation from artists to continue following their genuine expression, contributing to their artistic establishment and development.

Finally, these results highlight the freedom and support offered to artists in their career management process, with Cuca Monga creating structures that support their musicians in deciding their next steps, both creatively and in a strategic point of view. Relating to the label's guiding principles, this process allows artists to follow and fulfil artistic visions, contributing to stronger realisation of success for independent artists.

The key implications of this research relate to two main stakeholders. Firstly, for scholars, this study reestablishes the crucial role of indie labels in the promotion of artistic diversity and in challenging the established oligopolies in the music industry. Because of that, the strategies utilised by Cuca Monga are of relevant consideration, as they can highlight efforts and dynamics that are employed in the contemporary market to bypass these structures. Not only that, but, by explaining the benefits of flatter hierarchical structures in cultural management, it also challenges and adds to TCE's discussions on the organisation of cultural productions, and their applications towards the music industry. As well as that, for independent entities and actors in the cultural fields, this study can highlight some of the perceived challenges of digitalised markets, offering possible alternatives that look to mitigate these. By offering strategies and views that were successfully implemented, this research looks, therefore, to inspire and support emerging practitioners to proceed with independent cultural production amid external pressures.

When it comes to the limitations of this study, it's relevant to consider that, although it attempts to comprehensively explain the dynamics and strategies employed in Cuca Monga, the individual focus of this thesis can hinder its conclusions' inductive value. Therefore, although it looked to select a particularly successful case, it would have been valuable to observe labels in other environments, understanding whether these strategies are employed or not, and, if so, if they're successful there. Additionally, the qualitative methods used, in participant observation and semi-structured interviews, although guided by theoretical dimensions, are inherently subjective, opening the possibility for the researcher's bias to influence the captured perspectives. Also, considering that the researcher has been personally interested in the explored case study for a long time, the presented perspectives might be skewed in the appropriate assessment of the label's musicians' success.

Finally, when it comes to possible future research on the topic, besides the possibility of providing comparative depictions of strategies followed in different contexts or countries, it would also be relevant to deeper understand how collectives' audiences relate to each of the artists represented in these groups. By analysing interactions and discourse in these fan communities, one could be able to extract more direct conclusions on the effects of collective identity on individual commercial growth. Also, this research opens the door for quantitative confirmation of the analysed

dynamics. As the artistic dimension of success is hardly measurable in quantitative research, future studies could numerically analyse the impact of indie labels in their commercial development, understanding the impacts these strategies can have on streaming numbers, concert sales, among others.

#### References

Abreu, Paula (2010). A Música Entre a Arte, a Indústria e o Mercado. Coimbra: Faculdade de Economia da Universidade de Coimbra.

Aubrey, E. (2024). "James Blake is now an independent artist". 10<sup>th</sup> April, 2024. In New Musical Express: https://www.nme.com/news/music/james-blake-is-now-an-independent-artist-3616060

Ali, M. M., Karlsson, J., & Skålén, P. (2021). How Has Digitalisation Influenced Value in the Music Market?. International Journal of Music Business Research, 10(2), 53-63. doi:https://doi.org/10.2478/ijmbr-2021-0007

Alvesson, M., & Sköldberg, K. (2009). Reflexive methodology: New vistas for qualitative research. Sage.

Anderson, C. (2013). The long tail. Nieuw Amsterdam.

Anheier, H., Gerhards, J., & Romo, F. (1995). Forms of Capital and Social Structure in Cultural Fields: Examining Bourdieu's Social Topography. American Journal of Sociology, 100, 859 - 903. https://doi.org/10.1086/230603.

Association of Independent Music (AIM) (2020), 'Written evidence submitted by the Association of Independent Music ('AIM'), Economics of Music Streaming: Written Evidence: https://committees.parliament.uk/work/646/economics-of-music-streaming/publications/

Attali J (1986) Noise: The political economy of music. Telos 1986(70): 201–204

Bennet, A. & Peterson, R. A. (2004). Music Scenes: Local, Translocal, and Virtual.

Bennet, A. (2004). Consolidating the music scenes perspective. Poetics, v. 32, n. 3–4,p. 223–234, 2004

Bennett, A. (2018). Conceptualising the relationship between youth, music and DIY careers: A critical overview. Cultural Sociology 12(2): 140–155.

Benzecry, Lena (2012). "Construindo um panorama da música independente na atualidade", Galaxia, 12(23):238-240

Bernard, H. R. (2017). Research Methods in Anthropology: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches:

Bessy, C., & Chauvin, P.M. (2013). The Power of Market Intermediaries: From Information to Valuation Processes. Valuation Studies, 1(1), 83–117. https://doi.org/10.3384/vs.2001-5992.131183

Blaikie, N. (2000). Designing social research. Polity

Bonini, T. & Gandini, A. (2019). "First Week Is Editorial, Second Week Is Algorithmic": Platform Gatekeepers and the Platformization of Music Curation. Social Media + Society, 5(4). https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305119880006

Bourdieu, P. (1985). The market of symbolic goods. Poetics, 14, 13-44.

Bradshaw, A., & Shankar, A. (2008). The production and consumption of music. Consumption Markets & Culture, 11(4), 225–227. https://doi.org/10.1080/10253860802391235

Bromwich, J. (2014). Independent music labels and young artists offer streaming, on their terms. The New York Times, B3-L.

Brown, S. L., & Eisenhardt, K. M. (1998). Competing on the edge: Strategy as structured chaos. Harvard Business Press.

Bryman, A. (2016). Social research methods. Oxford university press.

Caves, R., E. (2003). "Contracts Between Art and Commerce ." Journal of Economic Perspectives, 17 (2): 73-83.

Charmaz, K. (2006). Constructing grounded theory: A practical guide through qualitative analysis. Sage

Coase, R. H. (1937). The Nature of the Firm. Economica, 4(16), 386–405. https://doi.org/10.2307/2626876

Cochoy, F., Hagberg, J., McIntyre, M. P., & Sörum, N. (Eds.). (2017). Digitalizing consumption: How devices shape consumer culture. Taylor & Francis.

Conaty, F. (2021). Abduction as a Methodological Approach to Case Study Research in Management Accounting — An Illustrative Case. Accounting, Finance & Governance Review, 27. https://doi.org/10.52399/001c.22171

Creswell, J. W. (2013). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Sage publications

Cummings, J. (2007). Selling the indie scene. Music festivals, neo-tribes and brand communities. In Refereed Proceedings of the Joint Australian Sociological Association (TASA) and the Sociological Association of Aotearoa New Zealand (SAANZ) Conference.

Dale P (2009) It was easy, it was cheap, so what?: Reconsidering the DIY principle of punk and indie music. Popular Music History, 3(2): 171–193

Demsetz, H. (1997). The Firm in Economic Theory: A Quiet Revolution. The American Economic Review, 87(2), 426–429. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2950959

Denzin, N. (1970). Strategies of multiple triangulation. The Research Act in Sociology: A Theoretical Introduction to Sociological Method

Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2018). The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research

Dolata U (2011) The music industry and the internet: a decade of disruptive and uncontrolled sectoral change. SOI discussion paper 2011–02. Stuttgart: Department of Organizational Sociology and Innovation Studies, Institute for Social Sciences, University of Stuttgart.

Eiriz, V., & Leite, F. P. (2017). The digital distribution of music and its impact on the business models of independent musicians. The Service Industries Journal, 37(13-14), 875-895.

Eisenhardt, K. M. (1989). Building theories from case study research. Academy of Management Review

Elberse A (2013) Blockbusters: Why Big Hits – and Big Risks – Are the Future of the Entertainment Business. London: Faber & Faber.

Elberse, A. (2008). The Long Tail Debate: A Response to Chris Anderson. Harvard Business Review, 2.

Emerson, R. M., Fretz, R. I., & Shaw, L. L. (2011). Writing Ethnographic Fieldnotes

Eriksson, M., Fleischer, R., Johansson, A., Snickars, P., Vonderau, P. (2019). Spotify Teardown: Inside the Black Box of Music Streaming (Cambridge, MA, MIT Press)

Farquhar, J. D. (2012). Case study research for business. Sage

Faulkner, D., & Bowman, C. (1995). The essence of competitive strategy prentice Hall Hemel Hempstead.

Fiss, P. C., & Hirsch, P. M. (2005). The discourse of globalization: Framing and sensemaking of an emerging concept. American Sociological Review, 70, 29-52

Fonarow, W. (2006). Empire of dirt: The aesthetics and rituals of British indie music. Wesleyan University Press.

Frascogna Jr, X. M., & Hetherington, H. L. (2011). This Business of Artist Management. Billboard Books.

Frenneaux, R. (2023). The rise of independent artists and the paradox of democratisation in the digital age: Challenges faced by music artists in the new music industry. DIY, Alternative Cultures & Society, 27538702231174200.

Frith, Simon (1981). "The Magic That Can Set You Free': The Ideology of Folk and the Myth of the Rock Community", Popular Music, 1:159-168. Cambridge University Press Stable

Gander, J., & Rieple, A. (2004). How Relevant is Transaction Cost Economics to Inter-Firm Relationships in the Music Industry? Journal of Cultural Economics, 28(1), 57–79. http://www.jstor.org/stable/41810839

Galuszka, P. (2015). Music Aggregators and Intermediation of the Digital Music Market. *International Journal of Communication*, 9, 20.

Gaudesi, F. (2016). "The contribution of artist management processes to success/failure in the music industry – a case study". London Metropolitan University, Guildhall Faculty of Business and Law.

Gold, R. L. (1958). Roles in Sociological Field Observations. Social Forces

Graham, G., & Hardaker, G. (2000). Supply-chain management across the internet. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 30(3/4), 286-295.

Graham, G., Burnes, B., Lewis, G. J., & Langer, J. (2004). The transformation of the music industry supply chain: A major label perspective. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 24(11), 1087-1103.

Guerra, P. & Moura, L.A. (2016). Contributos para a emergência de uma juventude sónica: A constituição da cena noise das Caldas da Rainha. CIDADES, Comunidades e Territórios, v. 32

Guerra, P. (2010). A instável leveza do rock. Génese, dinâmica e consolidação do rock alternativo em Portugal (1980-2010)

Gunderson, P. (2004) Danger mouse's grey album, mash-ups, and the age of composition. Postmodern Culture 15(1): 50–58

Hagberg, J., & Kjellberg, H. (2020). Digitalized markets. Consumption Markets & Culture, 23(2), 97–109.

Hesmondhalgh D (1997) Post-Punk's attempt to democratise the music industry: The success and failure of rough trade. Popular Music, 16(3): 255–274

Hesmondhalgh, D., & Meier, L. M. (2014). Popular music, independence and the concept of the alternative in contemporary capitalism. In Media independence (pp. 94-116). Routledge.

Hesmondhalgh, D., Osborne, R., Sun, H., & Barr, K. (2021). Music creators' earnings in the digital era. Intellectual Property Office Research Paper Forthcoming.

Hesmondhalgh, David (1999). "Indie: The Institutional Politics and Aesthetics of a Popular Music Genre. Cultural Studies. 13(1). 34-61.

Hibbett, Ryan, (2005). 'What Is Indie Rock?', Popular Music and Society

Hodgson, T. (2021). Spotify and the democratisation of music. Popular Music, 40(1), 1-17.

Hughes, D., Keith, S., Morrow, G., Evans, M., & Crowdy, D. (2013). What constitutes artist success in the australian music industries?

Hughes, D., Keith, S., Morrow, G., Evans, M., & Crowdy, D. (2013). What constitutes artist success in the australian music industries?

Hviid, M., Izquierdo Sanchez, S., & Jacques, S. (2017). Digitalisation and intermediaries in the music industry. CREATe Working Paper, 2017(7).

Hviid, M., Izquierdo-Sanchez, S., Jacques, S. (2018). "Digitalisation and Intermediaries in the Music Industry: The Rise of the Entrepreneur?" DOI: 10.2966/scrip.150218.242

Hyde, K. F. (2000). Recognising deductive processes in qualitative research. Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal

Hyde, K. F. (2000). Recognising deductive processes in qualitative research. Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal, 3(2), 82-90

Im, H., Song, H., & Jung, J. (2020). The effect of streaming services on the concentration of digital music consumption. Information Technology & People, 33(1), 160-179.

Jenkins, H. (1992). Textual poachers: Television fans & participatory culture. New York: Routledge.

Jenkins, H. (2006). Convergence culture: Where new and old media collide. New York: New York University Press.

Jensen, M. C., & Meckling, W. H. (2019). Theory of the firm: Managerial behavior, agency costs and ownership structure. In Corporate governance (pp. 77-132)

Johnson, L., & Brown, A. (2020). The transformation of music distribution: Digitalization and its impact on independent musicians. Journal of Music Business Studies, 15(3), 45-67.

Jones E (2021) DIY Music and the Politics of Social Media. New York: Bloomsbury Academic.

Jones, C., Svejenova, S., Strandgaard, J. (2011). Call for papers misfits, mavericks and mainstreams: Drivers of innovation in creative industries. Organization Science, 32(5), 720–722. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840611410800

Karpik, L. (2010). Valuing the unique: The economics of singularities. Princeton University Press

Kennedy, R., & McNutt, R. (1999). Little Labels--Big Sound: Small record companies and the rise of American music. Indiana University Press.

Khaire, M. (2017a). Culture and commerce: The value of entrepreneurship in creative industries. Stanford University Press.

Khaire, M. (2017b). The importance of being independent: The role of intermediaries in creating market categories. In R. Durand; N. Granqvist, and A. Tyllström (Eds.), From categories to categorization: Studies in sociology, organizations and strategy at the crossroads (Vol. 51, pp. 259–293).

Kvale, S. (2007). Doing Interviews

Lee JY (2009) Contesting the digital economy and culture: digital technologies and the transformation of popular music in Korea. Inter-Asia Cultural Studies 10(4): 489–506.

Maffesoli, M. (2014)- Homo Eroticus: comunhões emocionais. Rio de Janeiro: Forense,

Maguire, J. S., & Matthews, J. (2012). Are we all cultural intermediaries now? An introduction to cultural intermediaries in context. European journal of cultural studies, 15(5), 551-562.

Marshall, L. (2013) The 360 deal and the 'new' music industry. European Journal of Cultural Studies 16(1): 77–99.

Marshall, L. (2015). 'Let's keep music special. F—Spotify': on-demand streaming and the controversy over artist royalties. Creative Industries Journal, 8(2), 177–189. https://doi.org/10.1080/17510694.2015.1096618

Martin-Iverson, S.R. (2011). The politics of cultural production in the DIY hardcore scene in Bandung, Indonesia

McFall, L. (2014). The problem of cultural intermediaries in the economy of qualities. In The cultural intermediaries reader (pp. 42–51). SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781473912281

Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldaña, J. (2014). Qualitative Data Analysis: A Methods Sourcebook

Morrow, G. (2013). Regulating artist managers: An insider's perspective. International Journal of Music Business Research, 2(2), 8-35.

Morrow, G. R. (2006). Managerial creativity: A study of artist management practices in the australian popular music industry.

Moura, L. A. (2021b). Release-it-Yourself: A genealogy of Portuguese indie labels.

Moura, L. A. B. (2021). (Anti)Tédio Boys : O papel das gravadoras indie na cartografia musical portuguesa. Os casos de Coimbra, Porto, Guimarães e Leiria. CSOnline - REVISTA ELETRÔNICA DE CIÊNCIAS SOCIAIS, (33), 137–170. https://doi.org/10.34019/1981-2140.2021.34174

Mulligan M (2016a) Music's role in digital content is small and shrinking. Music Industry Blog, 26 February. [Article] Available at:

https://musicindustryblog.wordpress.com/2016/02/26/musics-rolein-digital-content-is-small-and-shrinking/

Mulligan, M., Thakrar, K., Crisiano, T. (2024) "Independent label survey- Playing the volume game" [Report]

Negus, K. (2002). The work of cultural intermediaries and the enduring distance between production and consumption. Cultural studies, 16(4), 501-515.

Negus, K. (2019). From creator to data: the post-record music industry and the digital conglomerates. Media, Culture & Society, 41(3), 367-384. https://doi.org/10.1177/0163443718799395

Palmer, R. (1981, September 6). Recordings; NEW BANDS on SMALL LABELS are the INNOVATORS of the 80'S. The New York Times.

Passos, J., Alturas, B., & Laureano, R. (2012). The importance of social networking in the dissemination of musical contents and musical events: The case of facebook in Portugal. In Proceedings of the LCBR European Marketing Conference (pp. 1-5).

Patton, M. Q. (2015). Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods: Integrating Theory and Practice

Payne, J., & Payne, G. (2004). Key concepts in social research. SAGE Publications Publications

Ronzon, F. (2008). Sul campo: breve guida pratica alla ricerca etnografica (Vol. 45). Meltemi Editore srl.

Rothschild-Whitt, J. (1979). The Collectivist Organization: An Alternative to Rational-Bureaucratic Models. American Sociological Review, 44(4), 509–527. Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2011). Qualitative Interviewing: The Art of Hearing Data

Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2009). Research methods for business students.

Seabrook J (2014) Revenue streams: is Spotify the music industry's friend or its foe? The New Yorker. [Article] 24 November. Available at:

https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2014/11/24/revenue-streams (accessed 5 January 2015).

Simon, H. A. (1991). Bounded rationality and organizational learning. Organization science, 2(1),125-134.

Smith Maguire, J., & Matthews, J. (2012). Are we all cultural intermediaries now? An introduction to cultural intermediaries in context. European Journal of Cultural Studies, 15(5), 551–562.

Smith, J. (2019). From vinyl to digital: Navigating the new music economy. Music Industry Quarterly, 22(2), 30-52.

Solo. A. (2014). The Role of Copyright in an Age of Online Music Distribution. Media and Arts Law Review, p. 171.

Spradley, J. P. (1980). Participant Observation

Stacey, R. (1993). Strategy as order emerging from chaos. Long Range Planning, 26(1)

Stake, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research. Sage

Steptoe-Warren, G., Howat, D., & Hume, I. (2011). Strategic thinking and decision making: Literature review. Journal of Strategy and Management, 4(3), 238-250.

Strachan, R. (2007). Micro-independent record labels in the UK: Discourse, DIY cultural production and the music industry. European Journal of Cultural Studies, 10(2), 245-265. https://doi.org/10.1177/1367549407075916

Strachan, R. (2019). Post-Digital Music Video and Genre: Indie Rock, Nostalgia, Digitization, and Technological Materiality. The Bloomsbury Handbook of Popular Music Video Analysis, 143-162.

Taylor, T. (2014). 'Globalized new capitalism and the commodification of taste', in The Cambridge History of World Music, ed. P. Bohlman (Cambridge, Cambridge University Press)

Terry, G., Hayfield, N., Clarke, V., & Braun, V. (2017). Thematic analysis. The SAGE handbook of qualitative research in psychology, 2(17-37), 25.

Thomas, G. (2010). Doing Case Study: Abduction Not Induction, Phronesis Not Theory. Qualitative Inquiry, 16(7), 575-582. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800410372601

TikTok (2023). "TikTok Music Impact Report". [Report]. Commissioned by TikTok in collaboration with Luminate. https://sf16-sg.tiktokcdn.com/obj/eden-sg/fuuvieh7uvzpsh/TikTok-Luminate-Report-2023.pdf

Tofalvy, T., & Koltai, J. (2023). "Splendid Isolation": The reproduction of music industry inequalities in Spotify's recommendation system. New Media & Society, 25(7), 1580-1604.

Waves (2019) Breaking the mix rules with Billie Eilish: Rob Kinelski. Jul 09, 2019. Asher Parkes. https://www.waves.com/breaking-the-mix-rules-with-billie-eilish-rob-kinelsk

Wayte, L. (2023). Pay for Play: How the Music Industry Works, Where the Money Goes, and Why. University of Oregon.

Williamson, O. (1973). Markets and Hierarchies: Some Elementary Considerations. The American Economic Review, 63(2), 316–325. http://www.jstor.org/stable/1817092

Williamson, O. (1985) The Economic Institutions of Capitalism. Free Press, New York.

Williamson, O. (1996) "Economic Organisation: The Case for Candor". Academy of Management Review 21 (1): 48–57

Wohlfeil M (2017) From 'Spiral Scratch' to PledgeMusic: The birth and rebirth of punk culture's entrepreneurial spirit. In: Proceedings of the Academy of Marketing 2017 Conference. Academy of Marketing (UK) Annual Conference 2017

Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: design and methods. Los Angeles: SAGE

Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications (Vol. 6). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Zolberg, Vera L. (1990). Constructing a Sociology Of The Arts. Contemporary Sociology

# Appendix

Table A1- Interviews with Founders/Administrative roles (Francisco Ferreira, Tomás Wallenstein, Domingos Coimbra, Diogo Rodrigues, Flávia Duarte, Luís Ogando)

Topics	Goals	Exemplificatory questions
Introduction and Interviewee Profiling	Some general questions to get to know better the participants and their situation.	Would you like to tell me a bit about yourself and your work? How did you end up in Cuca Monga?
Emerging opportunities and challenges, for indie artists and labels, in the contemporary music industry	Start to introduce the research topic and context, discuss the interviewee's perspective on global and Portuguese music markets' structure.	Which entities are crucial in the Portuguese music industry, and which can be considered as key gatekeepers or intermediaries?  What do you believe are some recent changes for independent artists in recent years? Which are the emerging opportunities that arose from this?  What do you believe are some recent changes in this industry's structure in recent years? Why?
Positioning and goals of independent labels and artists within the music industry	Explore how the independent and alternative music scene compares to the popular music industry, exploring its position within the global market.	Do you see the artists in the label competing with mainstream music for the same resources and audiences?  How do you see the role of independent movements for global music scenes?
Values and contexts that shape the activities of indie labels  Roles and activities internalized by indie labels to support their artists	Explore the emergence of Cuca Monga, and the role it plays in emerging artistic careers  Understand how labels impact an artist's development, both artistically and commercially.	Which activities does Cuca Monga internalise that allow artists to focus on artistic creation, free of creative constraints?  How are the label's values and mission defined?  Do you believe that Cuca Monga's provides artists with a solid structure to support their creative and career development? Which are some of the key areas in which this happens?  How do you perceive/evaluate success for each of the artists in the label?
Organizational structure and division of labour in indie labels	Understand the organisational structure and division of labour in indie labels  Understand the benefits of fluid structures in music management	Do you believe the label's specific organisational structure and positioning in the market is beneficial to its artists and projects? Do you think this support differentiated from the one seen in big labels?  What are the most important external entities for Cuca Monga's sustainability?

Influence of indie labels over their artists' social, financial, and creative conditions  Concrete tools and strategies utilized by indie labels to promote their artists' career development	Explore the provided conditions and collaboratory traits of music creation in independent labels and how they influence their artists' careers.  Understand the financial and support conditions offered to artists in Cuca Monga, and the relevance of specific strategies.	What are some of the strategies, derived from the disintermediation and digitalisation in the music industry, that allowed you to explore music releasing in different ways? Would the strategies in place work in major labels?  What are some of the activities that grant the sustainability of artists' careers?  How intertwined are the creation processes within the label? Is this a planned strategy or just representative of the label's collectivist identity  How do you see the trade-off between artistic freedom and commercial sustainability for the label's artists?
Role of indie labels in creating and shaping markets/audience for their projects and relevance of collective value identification for that audience	Understand the efforts done by Cuca Monga to promote new audiences for its artists	What efforts does the label make to help define and broaden its artists' audience?  How relevant is the collective's identity to guarantee audience engagement and the creation of a solid fanbase?  How do you balance the collective image of Cuca Monga with establishing individual artistic identities for the label's artists?

Table A2- Interviews with Artists (Miguel Marôco, Cláudia Sul)

Торіс	Goal	Exemplificatory questions
Introduction and Interviewee Profiling	Some general questions to get to know better the participants and their situation.	Would you like to tell me a bit about yourself and your work? When did your career begin, and how did you end up in Cuca Monga?
Emerging opportunities and challenges, for indie artists and labels, in the contemporary music industry	Start to introduce the research topic and context, discuss the interviewee's perspective on global and Portuguese music markets' structure.	Which entities are crucial in the Portuguese music industry, and which can be considered as key gatekeepers or intermediaries?  What do you believe are some recent changes for independent artists in recent years? Which are the emerging opportunities that arose from this?  What are some of the challenges you face when interacting with different entities within the music industry?
Positioning and goals of independent labels and artists within the music industry	Explore how the independent and alternative music scene compares to the popular music industry, exploring its position within the global market.	Where does the alternative/indie genre fit in this market? How do you perceive your target audience and how has this perception changed in recent years?  Do you see yourself competing with mainstream artists for the same audiences and resources?

Values and contexts that shape the activities of indie labels  Roles and activities internalized by indie labels to support their artists	Explore the emergence of Cuca Monga, and the role it plays in emerging artistic careers  Understand how labels impact an artist's development, both artistically and commercially.	How do you feel your career/daily management would change if you didn't have the label's support? Considering your priorities and career development, what are the key processes that Cuca Monga carries out which allow you to focus on more crucial activities?  Do you think that the promotional and distribution processes that are followed by Cuca Monga are aligned with the label's goals of developing upcoming artists in this genre?  Do you think that these answers would be the same if you were signed to a big label? Why/why not?
Organizational structure and division of labour in indie labels	Understand the organisational structure and division of labour in indie labels  Understand the benefits of fluid structures in music management	How does the label's team help you in your activities? Do you feel like there is a hierarchical structure inside Cuca Monga?  How adaptable is Cuca Monga throughout the development of different activities and how do you feel that benefits your career?
Influence of indie labels over their artists' social, financial, and creative conditions  Concrete tools and strategies utilized by indie labels to promote their artists' career development	Explore the provided conditions and collaboratory traits of music creation in independent labels and how they influence their artists' careers.  Understand the financial and support conditions offered to artists in Cuca Monga, and the relevance of specific strategies.	Do you feel representing, and being represented by, the Cuca Monga brand opened new doors for your career?  Do you feel like the label provides you the financial and social conditions, space, and freedom to follow your artistic visions?  Do you see the collaborative roots of Cuca Monga's creative context as beneficial to your development?  How do you perceive the balance between the establishment of your individual brand and the collective's? Do you think that the label's identity constructs are useful for your career? Why?
Role of indie labels in creating and shaping markets/audience for their projects and relevance of collective value identification for that audience	Understand the efforts done by Cuca Monga to promote new audiences for its artists	Do you feel like joining Cuca Monga allowed you to expand and better define your audience?  Do you feel closely related to your audience? Do you think the label's collective identity is important for this?  How do you perceive the balance between the establishment of your individual brand and the collective's? Do you think that the label's identity constructs are useful for your career?  Why?

Table A3- Codebook

Dimensions	Codes	Meaning	Example from Transcripts
Contemporary Music Industry	Dominance of streaming platforms	Member reflects on the effects of the dominant position of streaming services on the market	"Since we have a small market, but the revenue distribution models in streaming are pretty much the same as the global ones, it is almost always inviable to live off a small piece of a small cake."
	Challenges related to algorithms	Member reflects on gatekeeping potential of algorithms in streaming services and social media	"Now, non-chronological algorithms, and also recommendation systems, dominate the market. The big issue about this is that, with small projects, the battle for attention has never been more difficult"
	Opportunities emerging with social media	Member mentions the relevance of social media for artist-fan interactions and content promotion	"(about the digitalisation and disintermediation of music industry) I think it was definitely more helpful.  Now I have my Instagram account in which I can promote my new single, for example"
	Effects of new production tools	Member reflects on the effects caused by the democratisation of production technology	"Technological advances have altered the production and recording processes, altering how you make music, who makes music, how many people make music."
	Competitive structure of the market	Member reflects on the competitiveness of the oversupplied music market	"Now there are so many voices and actors, for the same audiences and consumption, that it becomes almost impossible for you to penetrate this sea of millions of voices"
Indie-Major dichotomy and competition	Resource comparison between indie and major labels	Member reflects on the different financial resources that are available to major and independent labels, and its impacts	"In indie, the way you create audiences is by making as much music as you can, playing in as much places as you can, and audiences grow organically. If you're in a major, they can pay for marketing and add campaigns, and, all of a sudden, you're playing in much bigger venues in a much quicker process"
	Audience comparison between indie and major labels	Member compares indie audiences with mainstream ones and on the different way these can be approached	"I think we don't (compete for the same audiences). I like Steve Lacy a lot, but, if someone only listens to the new Steve Lacy song through a TikTok or add campaign and finds itself singing those 5 seconds, he doesn't feel any emotional connection or identities with the artist itself"
Label's values and mission	Collective goals and perception of the label's success	Member details Cuca Monga's long term-goals	"Our goal here is not, and never was, to profit, reason why we're also legally a nonprofit. () It is to keep supporting emerging artists and allow them to continue to create their music, preferentially in the most financially sustainable way possible"
	Description of the label's mission and inherent values	Member describes the values and mission that guide Cuca Monga's development	"There is a structural mission for the label that has been resilient during all this time which is for Cuca Monga to target and support emerging artists."
	Cuca Monga's emergence and first steps	Member details the initial years and development of Cuca Monga	"After doing some of the work in our own, smaller, projects (Modernos, El Salvador, ect), and taking care of the production, release, production of events, ect made us want to start doing these processes internally and build a structure for other artists. ()"
	Relevance of technical and structural support for part-time musicians	Member reflects on the importance of providing support structures to emerging and smaller artists	"Being an emerging musician is always hard. We have a lot of artists who have other jobs () and just make music as a passion. Our goal is to provide them the conditions to have a healthy balance between those, not spending time with managing the "boring" parts of the music industry, and give them that support and platform here () to eventually allow them to live off of the music"
Division of labour and organisational structure	Benefits of fluid organisational structure	Member points out benefits in having an non-hierarchical structure for the label's appropriate development	"everyone does a bit of everything, and if someone doesn't have time, others will take care of it, and we can assure that our development goes on"
	Different functions played by the same actors	Member details activities and dynamics that explain the label's division of labour	"You can't hardly divide your tasks when we're just two-full time employees, so we always resort to helping each other"
	Incorporating artists in internal	Member details how the process of involving different	"So, our feeling of community and the associative spirit is really important internally as well, because we're

	development	artists in other processes benefits the label as a whole and the artist itself	able to get our members involved in these different processes, trying to help each other out and create a community"
Professionalisation and Institutional development	Professionalisation of the label's structure and activities	Member reflects on Cuca Monga's need and process of professionalisation	"Cuca stopped being just a group of friends with a label. Now it has more of a support structure, it makes things happen in the backstage and does it in a consistent and reliable manner"
	Learn-by-doing and adaptive approach	Member details the adaptive approach of the label, and how it is observed in different activities	"We're constantly looking to learn and improve, and the knowledge in this field is neverending. Even compared to our latest release, 3 years ago, the industry has changed a lot, the impact of TikTok and the central role of platforms has impacted the way you consider them in your process. And we're constantly "running after" that sort of experience and knowledge."
	Advantages of more human resources	Member mentions the positive aspects of having a larger structure of support	"We had certain factors that helped us in that professionalization, but that allowed us to maintain our independence in these processes. () Luís and Flávia are able to provide support in more specific areas, and build a more solid background structure for the development of each artist"
Structural support provided by Cuca Monga	Relevant areas of technical and structural support	Member details some of the most relevant areas in which Cuca Monga supports their artists	"So, everything, from managing releases on digital platforms, distributing it digitally and physically, creating a bridge with promoting and managing agencies, strategically planning her career, the creation of graphic content for her releases and other related content, produce and distribute merchandising, ect"
	Crucial activities that support commercial growth	Member explains specific activities that support their artists' commercial growth	"Cuca Monga also allows us to be played in radio stations, or giving us other exposure to audiences.  Promotion and raising awareness to our projects is really one of the most important supports they offer"
	Role of Cuca Monga in enlarging and shaping markets	Member entails the role of Cuca Monga in finding new audiences, and how joining the label can help artists define their target audiences better	"Indie labels also have a really interesting feature which is the creation of subcultures and groups inside of niches. We're able to cultivate a certain corner of a culture, and that helps us define our space in the market and audiences in a more effective way"
Artistic, financial, and social conditions offered by the label	Financial limitations of Cuca Monga	Member reflects on the impacts caused by Cuca Monga's smaller financial resources	"We're small, and we don't have financial resources to invest and demand something specifically from artists,"
	Relevance of common identity and collectivist traits for artists	Member reflects on the importance of collective views for the creation of a positive feeling for artists	"One of my favourite things about Cuca is the fact that they go beyond music. They want to create and improve this scene, they want to establish a connection with the audiences They're always thinking of new ways to reach and touch others, and that's an amazing trait of this label"
	Creative freedom offered by the label	Member reflects on the attitude of the label towards their artists' different cultural productions	"In the end, they give you total freedom to follow your vision, and, in a way, the label is only as involved in your process as you want it to be"
Collectivist traits of production	Relevance of a physical space	Member reflects on the importance of accessing the label's collective studio	"I think that having a physical space is the most relevant thing we offer to artists. Without it, we wouldn't be able to support creative production in this way"
	Benefits of collectivist production environment in Cuca Monga	Member reflects on the positive externalities that come with collective production	"And, artistically, being involved in other projects is really good, and that's something really indie. You play in the same context, and are able to influence and be influenced by others."
Community establishment around collective identity	Construction of the collective's identity and brand	Member details the processes and goals that go into the creation of a collective identity	"We try, therefore, to create a system in which the some people, that identify themselves with our mentality, understand that buying merch, or going to concerts contributes to this broader mission"
	Balance between	Member details the	"You have to balance both things, because otherwise, if

	collective and individual artistic identity  Sustaining the collective through shared identity and community	importance and dynamic employed to assure collective identity doesn't overshadow individual brand  Member details the importance of community-centred activities in the sustainability of the label	everyone is doing everything, everything will sound the same"  "It gives us the chance to explore the part of our audience that, because of the emotional connection held, is willing to give us more than the 0.003 cents we get for streaming."
Crucial activities and	establishment Crucial external	Member points out relevant	"I can think of a number of crucial entities that allow
entities for the label's sustainability	entities for the label's activities	external entities on the label's development	us to continue to do this: CTL (Cultural Trend Lisbon)- they organize the Musicbox, which has been a really important venue for Cuca Monga since the beginning; we can think of Musa, and Super Bock and Música no Coração, we've always organized a lot of things and events with them"
	Revenue and expenditure streams	Member details specific revenue and expenditure streams, and how the label's financial structure is organised	"The festival is a great way of guaranteeing financial sustainability, because, at the same time it gives artists a platform, it gives us some money to work with, and reinvest in other priorities"
Audiences	Connection between indie identity and fan engagement and support	Member details how the value-based unity of the community leads to a more sustainable and long-term support	"It then works almost as a fidelization process, in which we have to make sure that the small number of people following us also feels valued and is willing to keep supporting us"
	Relevant fan engagement tools and strategies	Member details specific efforts and activities that increase fan engagement and participation	"In concerts, going to meet the fans after, and being behind the merchandising stand, for example, is something we know the audience values a lot."
Contribution to artist success	Efforts to construct artists' individual identity and brand	Member details the label's efforts to develop individual artistic identities for its artists	"We work exactly in that way, so that the artist doesn't have to worry about that (creating a separate identity from the collective). Be it through the appropriate scheduling of releases, or artistic positioning and image for each artist. () Also, if we're doing press releases, we try to spread them through different outlets, or distribute the venues and shows in which our artists play"
	Career goals and personal success for independent artists	Member details indie artists' perception of success, and how Cuca Monga's approach supports it	"For me, music has to be more than that (quick, easily accessible content), it has to be genuine, you have to have something to say and music is supposed to be a space to let that out"
	Strategies and dynamics that support artistic visions	Member details attitudes and dynamics that facilitate the following of artistic visions or strategies	"The label is able to provide you with strategic support for all your steps- what you want to do, how you want to do it, when"